


CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE 
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high 
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective 
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should 
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile 
and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other 
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded 
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the 
securities traded on GEM.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

The Group recorded turnover of HK$6,527,000 for the year ended 31 December 2008, representing a
decrease of 4.1% from the previous year.

Included in the Group’s licensing income, the OEEM licensing revenue of HK$312,000 during the year
representing a decrease of 33.3% from the previouus year. OEM licensing revenue represents about 4.8%
of the Group’s turnover during the year, as compaared to 6.9% in 2007. Q9 CIS and Qcode CIS package
sales and software licensing revenue to the instittutional customers for the year 2008 recorded a mild
decrease of 2.0% from the previous year, and salees of third party products for the year 2008 decreased
by 1.9% from the previous year.

The Group recorded a net loss attributable to shareholders for the year of HK$12,978,000 (2007:
HK$41,225,000). The Group’s total operating annd other operating expenses in 2008 decreased by
HK$29,598,000 from 2007, representing a decrease of 61.1%. The decrease is mainly due to the share
based payments of HK$33,514,000 made in 20077. The Group’s total operating and other operating
expenses, excluding the share based paymentts, in 2008 increased by HK$3,916,000 from 2007,
representing an increase of 26.3% from the prevvious year and the increase is mainly attributable to
net fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of HK$1,242,000, provision for
impairment of property, plant and equipment off HK$1,073,000, provision for impairment of prepaid
land lease payments of HK$61,000 and other exppenses incurred for the renewable energy project of
HK$1,396,000.

RESULTS

The consolidated turnover of the Group for tthe year ended 31 December 2008 amounted to
HK$6,527,000, representing a decrease of 4.1% from the previous year. Loss attributable to shareholders
for the year amounted to HK$12,978,000, comparedd to that of HK$41,225,000 in 2007. Loss per share was
HK0.17 cent (2007: HK0.54 cent).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the year, packaged software sales and softtware licensing revenue to the institutional customers
recorded a slight decrease of 2.0% and third party product sales recorded a decrease of 1.9% from
the previous year. OEM licensing revenue decreeased by 33.3% from the previous year; the Group
recorded an overall decrease of 4.1% in its revennue from the previous year. The Group maintained a
small team to promote Q9 CIS in the Greater Chinna market, and hired a small team to develop its new
biotechnology and related manufacturing technology, which convert cassava into ethanol. The Group’s
total operating and other operating expenses, totaalling HK$18,823,000, increased by 26.3% as compared
with those of the previous year, excluding the signnificant impact arising from the share option expense
of HK$33,514,000 in 2007.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

the Group’s performance during the financial yearThe following represents significant events underlying 
2008:

ts minimum resources invested on Q9 CIS in the– The Group focused its marketing efforts with i
a slight decrease of 4.1% in its turnover from theGreater China region, and managed to book a

previous year.

o research and development of biotechnology and– The Group continue to diversify its business into
nto ethanol, which could be used as a renewablemanufacturing technology to convert cassava in
the construction of the production facilities in thesource of energy. However, due to a delay in t
dering the severe drop in the energy prices andmidst of the global financial crisis and consid
 for the time being, the Group decided to halt thedemand for oil and renewable source of energy,

otential and viability of the project. The Group alsoethanol project and reassessing the business po
land use rights in Yunfu, the PRC, to construct theexperienced significant delays in obtaining the 
dingly, the Group made a provision for impairmentfactory for the production of ethanol, and accord

000 and a provision for impairment of prepaid landof property, plant and equipment of HK$1,073,0
rred on the land.lease payments of HK$61,000 for the costs incur

t the end of the period under review. The Group– The Group does not have any borrowings as a
3,987,000 for property, plant and equipment as athas a capital expenditure commitments of HK$

31 December 2008.

d to HK$17,105,000. As at the end of the period– The Group’s cash and bank balances amounte
are held in bank accounts and short term depositsunder review, the majority of the bank balance a

in Hong Kong dollars.

CHANGE OF NAME OF THE COMPANY

dinary general meeting held on 16 June 2008, thePursuant to a special resolution passed at an extraord

va Technology Holdings Limited (name of the Company was changed from “Bio Cassav 九方科技控股有限
公司*)”, to “China Bio Cassava Holdings Limited ( 國生物資源控股有限公司中國 )”, which became effective 
on 16 June 2008.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

ched to the listed warrants of the Company toSince 23 January 2009, the subscription rights atta
balance sheet date and up to the date of warrantssubscribe for new shares have been expired. After the 

00 was received, representing 399,200,000 warrantsexpiry, warrant subscription amounting to HK$7,584,80
 with the subscription price of HK$0.019 per share.convertible into 399,200,000 shares of HK$0.0025 each
and such warrants certificates have already ceasedAll remaining 271,600,000 warrants are not exercised a

to be valid for any purpose.

* For identification only
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECTS

The focus of the Group’s efforts in 2009 will continnue to monitor the economic and financial viability of
the biotech and renewable energy business, conttinue its marketing efforts to promote Q9 CIS in the
Greater China region with existing resources, andd to continue to identify new business opportunities
which the Group could pursue profitably.

COMMITMENTS

The Group has no credit facilities and no borrowingg outstanding as at 31 December 2008 (2007: Nil).

(a) Capital commitment

Group
2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment
Contracted but not provided for 3,987 3,311

(b) Commitments under operating leases

At 31 December 2008, the total future minimmum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of land and buildings were payable as follows:

Group
2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,168 1,354
In the second to the fifth year 895 45

2,063 1,399

(c) Other commitment

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had no other commitment (2007: Nil).
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

relies on its internal resources, the net proceedsThe Group has no interest bearing debt. The Group 
d rights issue as the sources of funding. The Groupfrom its IPO and the subsequent issue of warrants and
ccounts and short term deposits as working capitalkeeps most of its cash in Hong Kong dollars in bank ac

of cash as working capital in bank accounts of itsof the Group. The Group kept a minimum amount o
ing balance in Hong Kong dollars.subsidiary in PRC in Renminbi (“RMB”) and the remain

ecember 2008 (2007: Nil).There was no charge on the Group’s assets as at 31 De

7: Nil).The Group had no debt as at 31 December 2008 (2007

to shareholder’s equity, was nil as at 31 DecemberThe gearing ratio of the Group, based on total debt t
2008 (2007: Nil).

ORDER BOOK

p does not maintain an order book (prospects forDue to the nature of the Group’s business, the Group
cussion and Analysis section).new business was discussed in the Management’s Disc

INVESTMENT

sidiaries during the year (2007: 5), there was noOther than the establishment of the two new subs
significant investment made during the year.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

disposal of subsidiaries or affiliated companies forThe Group did not have any material acquisition and 
the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: Nil).

HUMAN RESOURCES

Staff number

aff (2007: 38). Total staff costs, including directors’As at 31 December 2008, the Group employed 48 sta
e year ended 31 December 2008 as compared withemoluments were approximately HK$8.0 million for the

that of approximately HK$11.5 million for the last year.

Remuneration policies

on industry practices and individual’s performanceThe Group remunerated its employees mainly based o
retionary bonus and share options may be grantedand experience. On top of regular remuneration, discr
ce as well as individual’s performance.to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performan
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group has engaged third party contractors to develop the plants and to construct the ethanol
production factory in Yunfu, the PRC. The total estimated costs of developing the plants is about
RMB6,190,000, and the Group so far made the doown payment of RMB2,679,000 to three contractors to
develop the plants and equipment. In view of the global financial crisis and the uncertain outlook of the
renewable energy market, the Group is currently assessing the economic and financial viability of the
ethanol project, and progress of the project is temporarily halted.

HEDGING POLICY

The Group does not have any material exposure too fluctuations in exchange or interest rates. Therefore,
no hedging measures have been taken at present.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group does not have any contingent liabilitiess as at 31 December 2008 (2007: Nil).

CREDIT POLICY

The credit terms given to customers are generrally based on the financial strengths of individual
customers. The Group generally allows an average credit term of 30-90 days to its trade customers.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of the segmental information are set out in note 5 to the financial statements.
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

d the resulting impact on the real economy andDuring the past year, the global financial crisis and
oup’s effort to diversify its business in the biotechdemand for energy had negatively impacted our Gro

Group decided to halt the ethanol project andand renewable energy market, and as a result, the 
project under the new economic realities.reassessing the business potential and viability of the p

g financial resources, and continue to identify newOur Group will continue to market Q9 CIS with existin
profitably.business opportunities which the Group could pursue 

Leung Lap Yan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 March 2009
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Code on Corporate Governance Practices set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules (“Code”)
takes effect from 1 January 2005. The Company iss committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance. To maintain a good and solid framework of corporate governance will ensure the Company
to run its business in the best interests of the shareholders. The Company has complied with the Code
throughout the year.

DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adapted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 oof the GEM Listing Rule as the code of conduct for
securities transactions by Directors of the Companny (“Code for Director’s Dealings”). The Company has
made specific enquiry with all Directors and all Directors have complied with the requirements set out in
the Code for Director’s Dealing during the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises of nine members, includingg four executive directors (namely Messrs. Kwan Kin
Chung, Tam Kam Biu William, Wan Xiaolin and CChen Man Lung), two non-executive directors (namely
Messrs. Leung Lap Yan and Leung Lap Fu Warrren) and three independent non-executive directors
(namely Messrs. Ip Chi Wai, Tse Wang Cheung Angus and Shiu Kwok Keung). Mr. Leung Lap Yan,
Chairman of the Company, is a brother of Mr. Leung Lap Fu Warren. The directors’ biographical details
are set out on pages 15 to 17 of this annual report..

Mr. Leung Lap Yan takes up the role of Chairmann and no chief executive officer is appointed by the
Company. However, the roles of the Managing Director of the Company, Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, are
similarly to chief executive officer. The Chairman’s roles are convening meetings of the Board and make
decision of the Group’s business strategies. The Managing Director’s responsibilities are to participate in
the decision on essential matters of the Company and to monitor and manage the daily business of the
Company. The roles and responsibilities of the twoo posts are well distinct.

The Board of directors is accountable to shareholders for the activities and performance of the Group
and for the preparation of financial statements whhich give a true and fair view. It oversees the Group’s
overall strategic plans, reviews the financial perfoormance, supervises the management of the business
and affairs and approves the strategic plans. The BBoard delegate the corporate matters to Management
of the Group, including preparation of annual, inteerim and quarterly accounts, execution of the business
strategies and adopted by the Board, implementaation of internal controls system and compliance with
relevant statutory requirement and other rules andd regulations. Management is required to present an
annual budget and proposals for major investmennt, addition of capital assets, and changes in business
strategies for the Board’s approval.

During the year, the Board held four meetings too exercise its duties including discussing and making
decisions on the Group’s business strategic develoopment, finance matters, material operational matters
and other matters as required.



11
China Bio Cassava Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Corporate Governance Report

mpany, all directors including the independent non-Currently, at every annual general meeting of the Com
A retiring director shall retain office until the closeexecutive directors shall retire from office by rotation. 

e for re-election.of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible

”) come from professional backgrounds and one ofAll three independent non-executive directors (“INDs”
cial management expertise. The INDs render theirthem possesses the appropriate accounting and finan
he best interests of the Group. The Company hasvaluable expertise and experience for safeguarding th
on of his independent pursuant to Rule 5.09 of thereceived from each of the INDs the annual confirmatio
e INDs are independent.GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the

appointed for a specific term but are subject toThe INDs and the Non-executive Directors are not 
general meeting of the Company. retirement by rotation and re-election at every annual 

proximately at each quarter of the year in additionThe Board conducted four regular Board meetings app
nd finance matters of the Groups, and for statutoryto other Board meetings to review the performance an

purpose.

dit Committee and Remuneration Committee toThe Board has established committees, namely Aud
airs.oversee other particular aspects of the Company’s affa

 Meeting:Statistics of Director’s attendance at the regular Board

Attendance at Board
Meetings/No. of Board  

Meeting heldName of director Title 

on-executive director 4/4Mr. Leung Lap Yan Chairman and No
or 4/4Mr. Kwan Kin Chung Managing Direct
or 4/4Mr. Tam Kam Biu William Executive Directo
or 0/4Mr. Wan Xiaolin Executive Directo
or 4/4Mr. Chen Man Lung Executive Directo
irector 4/4Mr. Leung Lap Fu Warren Non-executive D

n-executive director 4/4Mr. Ip Chi Wai Independent non
n-executive director 4/4Mr. Tse Wang Cheung, Angus Independent non
n-executive director 4/4Mr. Shiu Kwok Keung Independent non

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

ch 2005 with defined terms of reference. It’s role isThe Remuneration Committee was established in Marc
ons of the directors and other senior managementto review and determine the policy for the remuneratio
or, Tam Kam Biu William and two INDs, Mr. Ip Chimembers. Currently, it comprises an executive directo
by the chairman, Mr. Tam Kam Biu, William.Wai and Mr. Tse Wang Cheung, Angus and is headed b
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The Committee held one meeting during thee year to discuss the policy and structure of the
remuneration of the directors and other senior mannagement members.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for:

(a) Making recommendations to the Board on tthe Group’s policy and structure for all remunerations
of directors and senior management membbers and acting as the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedures for developing policy as such remunerations.

(b) Determining the specific remuneration packaages of an executive directors and senior management
members and making recommendations to the Board of the remunerations of the non-executive
directors.

(c) Reviewing and approving the performance-bbased remunerations.

(d) Reviewing and approving the compensation payable to executive directors and senior
management members in connection with anny loss or termination of office or appointment.

(e) Reviewing and approving compensation arrrangements relating to the dismissal or removal of
misconduct directors.

Statistics of Remuneration Committee members’ atttendance at the Remuneration Committee Meeting:

 Attendance at Remuneration
 Committee Meetings/
 No. of Remuneration
Name of member Committee Meeting held

Mr. Tam Kam Biu William (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Ip Chi Wai 1/1
Mr. Tse Wang Cheung, Angus 1/1

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

In considering the nomination of a new directoor, the Board takes into account the qualification,
competence, working experience, and professionnal ethics of the candidates. Currently the Board is
responsible for selection of the candidates and appproval of the appointment as an executive director to
the Board. The Board will arrange the meeting for the nomination of the director when need. During the
year, no new director was appointed and accordinggly no meeting for nomination of director was held.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

the listing of the Company on the GEM Board.The Audit Committee has been established since t
hi Wai (as the Chairman of the Committee), Mr.Currently, it comprises three INDs, namely Mr. Ip C
. The term of reference describing the authoritiesTse Wang Cheung, Angus and Mr. Shiu Kwok Keung.
th reference to “A Guide for the Formation of anand duties of the Audit Committee were adopted wit
tute of Certified Public Accountants and the CodeAudit Committee” published by the Hong Kong Instit
ong Limited.Provision published by the Stock Exchange of Hong Ko

e reporting of financial and other information toThe Audit Committee meets regularly to review the
shareholders.

t the Audit Committee Meeting:Statistics of Audit Committee members’ attendance at

Attendance at Audit 
Committee Meetings/No. of 

Audit Committee Meeting heldName of member 

Mr. Ip Chi Wai (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Tse Wang Cheung, Angus 4/4
Mr. Shiu Kwok Keung 4/4

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

e system of internal controls is maintained in placeThe Board is responsible for ensuring that an adequate
ogether with the Audit Committee.within the Group, and for reviewing its effectiveness to

es of a well defined management structure withThe internal control system of the Group comprise
designed to achieve the following objectives: (a)specified limits of authority and control procedures, 
sure the completeness and accuracy of accountingensure proper maintenance of account records; (b) ens
timely reporting of actual financial results of thetransactions recorded in the accounting system, and 

d the Group’s assets and management acts withinGroup with comparison against budgets; (c) safeguard
with relevant legislation, regulations and listingits limits of authorities; and (d) ensure compliance 

anced, clear and understandable assessment andrules, including but not limited to the present a bala
price-sensitive announcements and other financialregular review of the Group’s financial reports, other 
nd reports to regulators as well as to informationdisclosures required under the GEM Listing Rules, an
ments.required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirem

reviewed and discussed the financial results andThe Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities, 
nancial results and internal control system of theinternal control system of the Group. All material fin

Group have been discussed and reviewed.
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Management maintains and monitors the system oof internal controls on an ongoing basis. Based on the
evaluations made by the Board and external audittors, the Audit Committee is satisfied that the Group
has fully complied with the Code Provisions on inteernal controls during the year as set forth in the Code;
except that an internal audit function has not beeen set up within the Group. Nevertheless, nothing has
come to the Board’s attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the existing system of
internal control is inadequate or ineffective.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

During the year, the external auditors, Grant Thoornton, provided its annual audit services, review of
the interim results and taxation advisory service too the Group. The Audit Committee is responsible for
considering the appointment of the external audditors and reviewing the non-audit functions, if any,
performed by the external auditors. In particular, the Audit Committee also considers, before they are
contracted for such service, whether such non-audit service could lead to any potential material conflicts
of interest. Nothing has come to the Board’s atteention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that
the non-audit services provided by the external auditors affect their independence, objectivity and
effectiveness in the audit processes in accordance with applicable standards.

The remuneration in respect of services provided by Grant Thornton for the year ended 31 December
2008 are as follow:

 2008
 HK$

Annual audit services 460,000
Taxation advisory services 48,000
Review of interim results 55,000
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

 February 2001 and was appointed as executiveMr. Kwan Kin Chung, aged 39, joined the Group in
anaging Director of the Company in January 2007Director of the Company. He was appointed as the M

businesses and corporate investment. He is also aand responsible for the restructuring of the Group b
y. Mr. Kwan held the position as Vice President ofdirector of a number of subsidiaries of the Company
der of the Company) (“Culturecom”) from 1998 toCulturecom Holdings Limited (a substantial sharehold
cer and managing director of Culturecom in April2002. He was appointed as acting chief executive offi

or of Arts in Economics from Zhongshan University,2007 and March 2008 respectively. He holds a Bachelo
rs of Mr. Kuan Sio Kai (a substantial shareholder ofGuangzhou, the PRC. He is one of the family member

the Company).

p in January 2000 as a non-executive Director ofMr. Tam Kam Biu, William, aged 52, joined the Grou
chief financial officer and in September 2000 asthe Company. In August 2000, Mr. Tam became the 

ointed as company secretary and the chairman ofan executive Director of the Company. He was appo
mber 2006 respectively. He is also a director of aremuneration committee of the Company in Septem

before he joined the Group on a full time basis,number of subsidiaries of the Company. Immediately 
retary and executive director of ViaGOLD CapitalMr. Tam was the chief financial officer, company secr
xchange, which is one of substantial shareholderLimited, a company listed on the Australian Stock E
e director of ViaGOLD Capital Limited. He is alsoof Culturecom. Mr. Tam has remained a non-executive
Holdings Limited (a company whose shares arean independent non-executive director of Soluteck 
Solar Energy Holdings Limited (a company whoselisted on the GEM of the Stock Exchange) and China 

hange). Mr. Tam has over 20 years of experience inshares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exch
with a number of Hong Kong listed companies andfinancial management and corporate finance, gained w
aster of Business Administration in 1981 from Yorkinternational groups. Mr. Tam obtained a degree in M
te member of the Hong Kong Institute of CertifiedUniversity in Toronto, Canada and became an associat
ociate of the Association of Chartered CertifiedPublic Accountants in September 1987 and an asso

Accountants in May 1988.

e Director of the Company in September 2003. HeMr. Wan Xiaolin, aged 51, was appointed as executive
nsible for its administration, human resources andis an executive Director of Culturecom and is respon
nology related management activities. He holds atraining, accounts and finance and information techn
e University, Shanghai, the PRC.Bachelor of Arts in Economics from Shanghai Maritime

cutive Director of the Company in May 2007. He isMr. Chen Man Lung, aged 43, was appointed as exec
s an independent non-executive director of Opescurrently a Vice President of Culturecom. Mr. Chen is
re listed on the Stock Exchange and chief financialAsia Development Limited, a company whose shares a
e shares are listed on Australian Stock Exchange.officer of ViaGOLD Capital Limited, a company whos
cs & Animation Federation Limited; a committeeHe also acts as a Director of the Hong Kong Comic
ation Limited (HKITA) and Academic Advisor tomember of the Hong Kong Inbound Travel Associa
f Hong Kong Baptist University. Mr. Chen obtainedAcademy of Visual Arts and Humanities Programme of
Degree of Master of Arts in Chinese Studies fromthe Degree of Bachelor of Arts in Sociology and the 
University of Science and Technology respectively.the Hong Kong Baptist University and The Hong Kong 

stry.He has over 15 years of experience in investment indu
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Lap Yan, aged 60, was appointed as thee Chairman and an executive Director of the Company
in 2001. Mr. Leung has been re-designated as nonn-executive Director of the Company in May 2007 and
remains as the Chairman of the Company after the re-designation. He is also a director of a number
of subsidiaries of the Company. Apart from beingg an inventor, Mr. Leung is a well known script writer,
having written such dramas as New Justice Pao, Dynasty and The Pride of Chao Zhou. From 1978 to
1980, Mr. Leung was employed as the manager oof programme planning of Rediffusion Television and
from 1986 to 1989 as the assistant to the controoller of production of Television Broadcasts Limited.
During the period 1983 to 1986, he was the directoor (drama) of the Singapore Broadcasting Corporation.
In 1993, he moved to Taiwan where he developed tthe first version of QCode, a character input system. A
year later he worked together with Mr. Lau Man Kin to upgrade QCode and founded the Group. He is a
brother of one of non-executive Director, Mr. Leungg Lap Fu, Warren.

Mr. Leung Lap Fu Warren, aged 58, was appointedd as an executive Director of the Company in 2001. He
has been re-designated as non-executive Director of the Company in May 2007. He is also a director of
a number of subsidiaries of the Company. For moost of the 1970’s, Mr. Leung worked for multinational
companies, Wallem Ship Management Company Limited and C.N. Company, a member of the Swire
Group, as a marine engineer specialising in automatic control systems projects. Between 1979 and
1981, he was a business manager with a subsidiarry of the Kowloon Development Group. Thereafter he
worked as a plant superintendent first with HSBC Property (Asia) Limited, then as senior engineer with
the Macau Jockey Club and lastly with the Lee Gaarden Hotel Management Group. He has a number of
engineering and technical qualifications, includingg being a high-tension electrical engineering worker
registered by Electrical & Mechanical Services Deppartment of Hong Kong Government. He is a brother
of one of non-executive Director, Mr. Leung Lap Yaan.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ity of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in law.Mr. Ip Chi Wai, aged 41, graduated from the Universi
10 years of experience in the legal profession. HeHe is a solicitor admitted in Hong Kong and has over 

ctor of the Company in September 2000. He is thewas appointed as an independent non-executive Direc
emuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Ip ischairman of the audit committee and a member of re
r of audit committee and remuneration committeealso an independent non-executive director, a membe

of Asia Standard Hotel Group Limited.

n the law firm of Angus Tse, Yuen & Ting. He wasMr. Angus Tse Wang Cheung, aged 43, is a partner in
or of the Company in September 2000 and is aappointed as an independent non-executive Directo
ttee.member of audit committee and remuneration commit

or of Opes Asia Development Limited, a companyMr. Shiu Kwok Keung, aged 41, is an executive directo
ock Exchange. During 2006, he was the senior vicewhose shares are listed on the Main Borad of the Sto
ompany whose shares are listed on the Main Boradpresident of China Solar Energy Holdings Limited, a co
e experience in finance, accounting and corporateof the Stock Exchange. Prior to that, he has extensive
degree in Finance from the National Universitydevelopment. Mr. Shiu holds a Master of Science 

nting degree from the Southern Cross Universityof Ireland, Dublin, a Master of Professional Accoun
ree in China Studies (Economics) from the Hongin Australia and a Bachelor of Social Sciences degr

Analyst charterholder and a Certified PracticingKong Baptist University. He is a Chartered Financial 
 as an independent non-executive Director and aAccountant of CPA Australia. Mr. Shiu was appointed
any in September 2006.member of the audit committee member of the Comp
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investmment holding. Details of the principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial sstatements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 Deecember 2008 and the state of its affairs of the Group
and the Company at that date are set out in the finnancial statements on pages 30 to 88.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of aa dividend.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Grouup and the Company during the year are set out on
page 35 and note 25 to the financial statements respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and eequipment of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for last five financial years is set out
on page 89.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company has no reserves available for distriibution to the shareholders as at 31 December 2008
(2007: Nil). The payment of dividends and distribbution out of the share premium account is however
subject to a solvency test of the Company and the provisions of the Articles of Association of the
Company.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

the laws of the Cayman Islands or the Company’sThere are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under 
pany to offer new shares on a pro rata basis toArticles of Association which would oblige the Com

existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

ring the year. Neither the Company nor any of itsThe Company has not redeemed any of its shares du
sted securities during the year.subsidiaries purchased or sold any of the Company’s li

DIRECTORS

to the date of this report were as follows:The Directors of the Company during the year and up 

Executive Directors:
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung
Mr. Tam Kam Biu William
Mr. Wan Xiaolin
Mr. Chen Man Lung

Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Lap Yan
Mr. Leung Lap Fu Warren

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Ip Chi Wai
Mr. Tse Wang Cheung Angus
Mr. Shiu Kwok Keung

Articles of Association, all the Directors retire byIn accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s A
ection at the forthcoming annual general meeting.rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-ele

appointed for specific terms but are subject toThe independent non-executive directors are not a
y’s Articles of Association.retirement by rotation in accordance with the Compan

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ages 15 to 17.Brief biographical details of Directors are set out on p
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Tam Kam Biu William has entered into a servicce contract with the Group whereby he was employed
as the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group.

None of Directors has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statuutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance in relation to the Grouup’s business to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time duriing the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2008, save for the interest of tthe directors in share options as below, neither of the
directors nor the chief executive of the Company hhad interests and or short positions in the shares of the
Company (“Shares”), underlying shares and debenntures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO”)) which (i) are required to be notifiedd to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (includingg interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFOO); or (ii) were recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standards of dealing by ddirectors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing
Rules.



21
China Bio Cassava Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Directors’ Report

LONG POSITIONS IN UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Share Option

00,000 outstanding share options of the CompanyAs at 31 December 2008, there were a total of 92,00
hich are summarised in the following table:granted to the directors of the Company, details of wh

hares of the Company Options to subscribe for sh
cised Lapsed Outstanding  Outstanding Granted Exerc
uring  during as at  Option exercise Exercise price Date of as at   during  du
riod the period 31 December 2008 period per shareDirector grant 1 January 2008  the period the pe

– – Kwan Kin Chung 29/5/2007 16,000,000 – 16,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125
– – Tam Kam Biu William 29/5/2007 20,000,000 – 20,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125
– – Wan Xiaolin 29/5/2007 12,000,000 – 12,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125
– – Chen Man Lung 29/5/2007 16,000,000 – 16,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125
– – Leung Lap Yan 29/5/2007 8,000,000 – 8,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125
– – Leung Lap Fu Warren 29/5/2007 8,000,000 – 8,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125
– – Ip Chi Wai 29/5/2007 4,000,000 – 4,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125
– – Tse Wang Cheung Angus 29/5/2007 4,000,000 – 4,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125
– – Shiu Kwok Keung 29/5/2007 4,000,000 – 4,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125

– – Total  92,000,000 – 92,000,000

Note:

sted when the Share Subdivision became effective on 3 July The number of options granted and the exercise price was adjus

2007.

nt for ten years. The options may be exercised at any time The option exercise period is commenced from the date of gra

n vested. As at 31 December 2008, all options have been within the option period provided that the options have been

vested.

chief executives of the Company had any interestSave as disclosed above, none of the directors or the 
debentures of the Company or any of its associatedor short positions in any shares, underlying shares or d

corporations at 31 December 2008.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 27 April 2007, a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the
shareholders of the Company and the share optioon scheme adopted by the Company on 30 April 2002
(the “Old Share Option Scheme”) was terminatedd accordingly on the same date. No share option was
outstanding under the Old Share Option Schemee. A summary of the New Share Option Scheme is as
follows:

1. Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable the Board to grant options to eligible
participants as incentives and/or rewards in recognition or acknowledgement of the contributions
that Eligible Participants have made and/or wwill make to the Group.

The New Share Option Scheme will provide the eligible participants with an opportunity to have a
personal stake in the Company and the Direcctors believe this will motivate the eligible participants
to utilise their performance and efficiency foor the benefit of the Group and will attract and retain
or otherwise maintain an on-going relationsship with the Eligible Participants whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the long term groowth of the Company.

2. Eligible participants

The Eligible Participants of the New Share OOption Scheme may include:

(a) any director (whether executive, nonn-executive or independent non-executive director),
employee (whether full time or part time employee), consultant, customer, supplier, agent,
partner or adviser of or contractor to tthe Group or any Invested Entity;

(b) any discretionary trust whose discretioonary objects include any director (whether executive,
non-executive or independent non-exxecutive director), employee (whether full time or part
time employee), consultant, customer,, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to
the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(c) any company beneficially owned byy any director (whether executive, non-executive or
independent non-executive director), employee (whether full time or part time employee),
consultant, customer, supplier, agent,, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or
any Invested Entity.

3. Total number of shares available for issuee

The total number of shares which may be isssued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 1,522,060,000 Shares (as adjusted
for the effect of the Share Subdivision), reppresenting about 18.6% of the shares in issue at the
date of this report.
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ipant4. Maximum entitlement of each eligible partici

al number of securities issued and to be issuedUnless approved by the shareholders, the tot
eligible participant (including both exercised andupon exercise of the options granted to each 

must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Whereoutstanding options) in any 12 month period m
rticipant would result in the shares issued and toany further grant of options to an eligible par
d and to be granted to such eligible participantbe issued upon exercise of all options grante
ng options) in the 12 month period up to and(including exercised, cancelled and outstandi
nting in aggregate over 1% of the relevant class ofincluding the date of such further grant represe
eparately approved by the shareholders in generalsecurities in issue, such further grant must be se
associates abstaining from voting. The Companymeeting with such eligible participant and his 

e circular must disclose the identity of the eligiblemust send a circular to the shareholders and th
ons to be granted (and options previously grantedparticipant, the number and terms of the optio

to such eligible participant).

5. Time of exercise of option

ing an option period to be notified by the BoardAn option shall be exercisable at any time dur
be exercisable later than ten years after its date ofto each grantee, provided that no option shall b

grant.

be held6. Minimum period for which any option must b

ts sole discretion, there is no minimum period forUnless otherwise determined by the Board at it
ption can be exercised under the terms of the Newwhich an option must be held before such an op

Share Option Scheme.

7. Amount payable upon acceptance of option

 to the Company on acceptance of an offer of anHK$1.00 is payable by each eligible participant
t day by which the offer must be accepted.option, which shall be paid on or before the last

8. Basis of determining the exercise price

the Board, but it must be at least the highest of:The exercise price shall be at the discretion of 
 daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on(a) the closing price of a share as stated in the
y; and (b) the average of the closing prices of thethe date of grant which must be a business day
s of the Stock Exchange for the five business daysshares as shown on the daily quotations sheets
c) the nominal value of a share.immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c
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9. The remaining life of the New Share Optiion Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme shall commmence on the date on which the New Share Option
Scheme is approved by a resolution of shareholders at a general meeting of the Company and
shall continue in force until and including thee date immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of
the date of commencement.

As at 31 December 2008, options to subscribee for up to an aggregate of 756,760,000 shares of
HK$0.0025 each had been granted by the Companny under the New Share Option Scheme. Details of the
share options which had been granted under the NNew Share Option Scheme are as follows:

 Options to subscribee for shares of the Company
  Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
Category of   as at    during  during  during  as at  Option exercise Exercise price
participant Date of grant 1 January 2008  the period  tthe period  the period  31 December 2008  period  per share

Directors 29/5/2007 92,000,000 – – – 92,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125

Employees other
 than the directors
 of the Company 29/5/2007 12,000,000 – – – 12,000,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125

Consultants 29/5/2007 652,760,000 – – – 652,760,000 29/5/2007 to 28/5/2017 HK$0.1125

Total  756,760,000 – – – 756,760,000

Note:

The number of options granted and the exercise price was aadjusted when the Share Subdivision became effective on 3 July 

2007.

The option exercise period is commenced from the date off grant for ten years. The options may be exercised at any time 

within the option period provided that the options have been vested. As at 31 December 2008, all options have been 

vested.

During the period, there were no options being exercised, ccancelled or lapsed.

Details of options granted to directors of the Coompany under the Share Option Scheme are set out
in the sub-section headed “Long Position in Undderlying Shares of the Company” under the section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures”.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

interests kept by the Company under Section 336As at 31 December 2008, according to the register of 
e disclosed above in respect of the directors andof the SFO, the following parties (in addition to thos
the shares or underlying shares of the Companychief executives) had interests or short positions in 
d/or were directly or indirectly interested in 5% orwhich were required to be recorded in the register an
te in all circumstances at general meetings of anymore of the issued share capital carrying rights to vot

other members of the Group:

Long positions in shares of the Company

 Approximate 
 percentage 

Number of shares holdingName of shareholder 

1,636,490,000 20.97%Step Up Co., Ltd. 
Mr. Kuan Sio Kai (Note (i)) 1,636,490,000 20.97% 

2,023,430,000 25.93%Winway H.K. Investments Limited 
Culturecom Holdings Limited (Note (ii)) 2,023,430,000 25.93% 

479,430,000 6.14%L & W Holding Limited 
Chow Lai Wah Livia (Note (iii)) 669,700,000 8.58%
Basilio Dizon (Note (iv)) 669,700,000 8.58%

Notes:

90,000 shares through his controlling interest (100%) in Step (i) Mr. Kuan Sio Kai is deemed to be interested in 1,636,49

Up Co., Ltd.

sidiary of Culturecom Investments Limited, which is, in turn, (ii) Winway H.K. Investments Limited is a wholly-owned subs

Limited. Culturecom Holding (BVI) Limited is a wholly-owned a wholly-owned subsidiary of Culturecom Holding (BVI) L

Culturecom Investments Limited, Culturecom Holding (BVI) subsidiary of Culturecom Holdings Limited. Each of C

be interested in 2,023,430,000 shares through its controlling Limited and Culturecom Holdings Limited is deemed to 

interest (100%) in Winway H.K. Investments Limited.

terested in 162,690,000 shares in the Company. Ms. Chow (iii) Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (“Ms. Chow”) is beneficially in

trolling interests (65%) in L & W Holding Limited (“L & W”). is a wife of Mr. Basilio Dizon (“Mr. Dizon”) and has cont

00 shares in the Company under SFO.Accordingly, she is deemed to be interested in 507,010,00

ng interests 35% and 90.77% in L & W and Harvest Smart (iv) Mr. Dizon is a husband of Ms. Chow and has controllin

t Smart is beneficially interested in 27,580,000 shares in the Overseas Limited (“Harvest Smart”) respectively. Harvest

669,700,000 shares in the Company under SFO.Company. Accordingly, he is deemed to be interested in 

e directors are not aware of any other persons whoSave as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, the
ying shares of the Company which were interestedhad interests or short positions in the shares or underl
ts to vote in all circumstances at general meetingsin 5% or more of the issued share capital carrying righ

of any other members of the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and
customers are as follows:

Purchases
 – the largest supplier 32.1%
 – five largest suppliers combined 65.0%

Sales
 – the largest customer 11.3%
 – five largest customers combined 23.9%

None of the directors, their associates or any shareeholder (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capittal) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers
noted above.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and admministration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or exissted during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the directors or management shareholders of the Company (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) has an interest in a business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Confirmation of independence has been received ffrom each of the independent non-executive directors
of the Company and the Company considers all existing independent non-executive directors to be
independent.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct reegarding securities transactions by directors on terms
no less than the required standard of dealings as sset out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has also made specific enquiry of tthe directors and the Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with the required standard of deealings and its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

tices adopted by the Company is set out on pageA report on the principle corporate governance pract
10 to 14 of the annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

on-executive directors, namely Mr. Ip Chi Wai, Mr.The audit committee comprises three independent no
with written terms of reference in compliance withTse Wang Cheung Angus and Mr. Shiu Kwok Keung, w
ndix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Ip Chi Wai iscode provision C.3.3 of the Code as set out in Appen

the chairman of the audit committee.

view and supervise the Group’s financial reportingThe primary duties of the audit committee are to rev
p’s audited annual report have been reviewed byprocess and internal control procedures. The Group
hich was of the opinion that the preparation ofthe audit committee together with management, w
g standards and requirements and that adequatesuch results complied with the applicable accounting

disclosures have been made.

AUDITORS

nt Thornton who retire and, being eligible, offerThe financial statements have been audited by Gran
themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Leung Lap Yan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 March 2009
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA BIO CASSAVA HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Formerly known as Bio Cassava Technology Holdinngs Limited)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liaability)

We have audited the consolidated financial stateements of China Bio Cassava Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) set out on pages 30 to 88, which commprise the consolidated and company balance sheets
as at 31 December 2008, and the consolidatedd income statement, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatoory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
these financial statements in accordance with Honng Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountannts and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includees designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due too fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimaates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on thhese financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and foor no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for tthe contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Honng Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. TThose standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obbtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

udit evidence about the amounts and disclosuresAn audit involves performing procedures to obtain a
d depend on the auditors’ judgement, includingin the financial statements. The procedures selected
ent of the financial statements, whether due tothe assessment of the risks of material misstateme

auditors consider internal control relevant to thefraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
the financial statements in order to design auditentity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of 

 but not for the purpose of expressing an opinionprocedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
audit also includes evaluating the appropriatenesson the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 

of accounting estimates made by the directors, asof accounting policies used and the reasonableness o
cial statements.well as evaluating the overall presentation of the finan

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis forWe believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
our audit opinion.

OPINION

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs ofIn our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
008 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for thethe Company and of the Group as at 31 December 20
ncial Reporting Standards and have been properlyyear then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Finan
nts of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.prepared in accordance with the disclosure requiremen

Grant Thornton
Certified Public Accountants
13th Floor, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

16 March 2009
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 Notes 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 6,527 6,809

Cost of sales  (1,233) (1,312)

Gross profit 5,294 5,497

Other revenue 6 551 1,699

Selling and distribution expenses  (3,754) (4,089)

Research and development expenses  (2,587) (1,191)

General and administrative expenses  (9,872) (43,126)

Other operating expenses  (2,610) (15)

Operating loss (12,978) (41,225)

Finance costs  – –

Loss before income tax 7 (12,978) (41,225)

Income tax expense 8 – –

Loss for the year 9 (12,978) (41,225)

Loss per share for loss attributable
 to the equity holders of the Company 10

 – Basic (HK0.17 cent) (HK0.54 cent)

 – Diluted N/A N/A
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Notes  2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
13Property, plant and equipment 1,646 816
14Prepaid lease payments 2,092 2,025
15Intangible assets 1,700 1,900

Deposits paid for plant and equipment 3,042 1,419
16Other receivable 1,200 –

9,680 6,160
Current assets

18Inventories 272 231
19Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 416 894
20Trade receivables 372 512

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 933 908
21Cash and cash equivalents 17,105 30,820

19,098 33,365
Current liabilities

22Trade payables 91 102
Other payables and accrued expenses 3,658 2,282

3,749 2,384

Net current assets 15,349 30,981
 

Net assets/Total assets less current liabilities 25,029 37,141
 

EQUITY
anyEquity attributable to the equity holders of the Compa

23Share capital 19,510 19,429
25Reserves 5,519 17,712

Total equity 25,029 37,141

Tam Kam Biu, WilliamKwan Kin Chung 
DirectorDirector 
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 Notes 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 131 342
Intangible assets 15 1,700 1,900
Interests in subsidiaries 17 2,501 5,501

4,332 7,743

Current assets
Other receivables  275 398
Amounts due from subsidiaries 17 6,675 6,103
Cash and cash equivalents 21 14,168 24,507

21,118 31,008

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued expenses  320 291
Amounts due to subsidiaries 17 12,735 12,856

13,055 13,147

Net current assets 8,063 17,861

Net assets/Total assets less current liabilities 12,395 25,604

EQUITY
Share capital 23 19,510 19,429
Reserves 25 (7,115) 6,175

Total equity 12,395 25,604

Kwan Kin Chung Tam Kam Biu, William
Director Director
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2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before income tax (12,978) (41,225)
Adjustments for:
 Interest income (406) (1,052)
 Amortisation of intangible assets 200 100
 Depreciation 258 170
 Write off of property, plant and equipment 233 –
 Net fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets 

ng  at fair value through profit or loss – held for tradin 1,242 (169)
 Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 73 –

pment  Provision for impairment of property, plant and equi 1,073 –
 Provision for impairment of prepaid lease payments 61 –
 Share based payments – 33,514

Operating loss before working capital changes (10,244) (8,662)
 Increase in inventories (114) (115)

nts, Decrease/(Increase) in trade receivables, prepaymen
  deposits and other receivables 117 (67)
 (Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables
  and accrued expenses (445) 602

Net cash used in operating activities (10,686) (8,242)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,790) (826)

t or loss Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profi (999) (1,528)
Proceeds from sales of financial assets 
 at fair value through profit or loss 235 803
Interest received 406 1,052
Prepaid land leases payments – (2,025)
Payments for intangible assets – (2,000)
Increase in other receivable under non-current assets (1,200) –
Deposits paid for plant and equipment (539) (1,419)

Net cash used in investing activities (3,887) (5,943)
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2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of warrants – 6,230
Proceeds from exercise of warrants 615 5,578
Warrant share issue expenses – (994)

Net cash from financing activities 615 10,814

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (13,958) (3,371)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yearr 30,820 34,147

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 243 44

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17,105 30,820

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents at end off year
Cash and bank balances 3,605 10,820
Short term time deposits 13,500 20,000

17,105 30,820
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tal   Share Capit
on Warrant Reorganisation Translation Accumulated Share Share option redemptio
ve reserve reserve reserve losses Total capital premium reserve reserv
00 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’0

At 1 January 2007 37 6,250 3,000 – (98,589) 33,98918,695 104,596 – 

Currency translation (Net gain
– – – 49 – 49 recognised directly in equity) – – – 
– – – – (41,225) (41,225)Loss for the year – – – 

Total recognised income 
– – – 49 (41,225) (41,176) and expense for the year – – – 

Issue of warrants (note 23(b)) – 6,230 – – – 6,230 – – – 
– (994) – – – (994)Warrants issue expenses – – – 

Exercise of warrants (note 23(b)) – (1,542) – – – 5,578 734 6,386 – 
Equity-settled share-based
 payment expense (note 24) – – – – – 33,514– – 33,514 

At 31 December 2007 
 and 1 January 2008 37 9,944 3,000 49 (139,814) 37,14119,429 110,982 33,514 3

Currency translation (Net gain
– – – 251 – 251 recognised directly in equity) – – – 
– – – – (12,978) (12,978)Loss for the year – – – 

Total recognised income 
– – – 251 (12,978) (12,727) and expense for the year – – – 

Exercise of warrants (note 23(b)) – (170) – – – 615 81 704 – 

At 31 December 2008 37* 9,774* 3,000* 300* (152,792)* 25,02919,510 111,686* 33,514* 3

reserves of HK$5,519,000 (2007: HK$17,712,000) in the * These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated 

consolidated balance sheet.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

China Bio Cassava Holdings Limited (the “CCompany”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Isslands. The address of its registered office is PO Box
309, Ugland House, George Town, Grand CCayman, Cayman Islands, British West Indies and its
principal place of business is Unit 610C, 6122 & 613, Level 6, Core D, Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport
Road, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (the “GEM”)
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limiteed (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is innvestment holding. Its subsidiaries (together with the
Company collectively referred to as the “Grooup” hereinafter) are principally engaged in computer
software and embedded systems development, sales and licensing of the software and systems,
and development of biotech and renewable energy. There were no significant changes in the
Group’s operations during the year. Details oof the activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 17 to the financial statements.

Pursuant to the special resolution passed on 16 June 2008, the name of the Company was

changed from Bio Cassava Technology Holdings Limited “九方科技控股有限公司” to China Bio
Cassava Holdings Limited “中國生物資源控股股有限公司”.

The consolidated financial statements are ppresented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also
the functional currency of the Company.

The financial statements on pages 30 to 888 have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) wwhich collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standardss, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations (“Ints”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). The financial statements also include the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the RRules Governing the Listing of Securities on The GEM
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The financial statements for the year endedd 31 December 2008 were approved for issue by the
board of directors on 16 March 2009.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs

2.1 ed for the first time the following new standards,In the current year, the Group has applie
“new HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA, whichamendments and interpretations (the 

roup’s financial statements for the annual periodare relevant to and effective for the Gr
beginning on 1 January 2008:

reasury Share TransactionsHK (IFRIC) – Int 11 HKFRS 2: Group and Tr
of Financial AssetsHKAS 39 (Amendments): Reclassification o

t on how the results and financial position for theThe new HKFRSs had no material impact
pared and presented. Accordingly, no prior periodcurrent and prior periods have been prep

adjustment is required.

2.2 ncial statements, the following new and amended  At the date of authorisation of these fina
yet effective, and have not been adopted early byHKFRSs have been published but are not 

the Group.

ntation of Financial StatementHKAS 1 (Revised) Prese 1

owing CostsHKAS 23 (Revised)  Borro 1

olidated and Separate Financial StatementsHKAS 27 (Revised)  Conso 2

ble Financial Instruments and ObligationsHKAS 32, HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7  Putta
sing on Liquidation (Amendments)  Aris 1

ble Hedged ItemsHKAS 39 (Amendment)  Eligib 2

time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial ReportingHKFRS 1 (Revised) First-t
ndards  Sta 2

of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly ControlledHKFRS 1 and HKAS 27 Cost 
tity or an Associate (Amendments)  Ent 1

e-based Payment – Vesting ConditionsHKFRS 2 (Amendment) Share
d Cancellations  and 1

ess CombinationsHKFRS 3 (Revised) Busin 2

ating SegmentsHKFRS 8 Opera 1

bers’ Shares in Co-operative Entities andHK(IFRIC) – Int 2 Memb
milar Instruments  Sim 1

omer Loyalty ProgrammesHK(IFRIC) – Int 13 Custo 3

ements for the Construction of Real EstateHK(IFRIC) – Int 15  Agree 1

ges of a Net Investment in a Foreign OperationHK(IFRIC) – Int 16 Hedg 4

butions of Non-cash Assets to OwnersHK(IFRIC) – Int 17  Distri 2

fers of Assets from CustomersHK(IFRIC) – Int 18  Transf 2

al Improvements to HKFRS 2008Various Annu 5

1 ing on or after 1 January 2009 Effective for annual periods beginn
2 ing on or after 1 July 2009 Effective for annual periods beginn
3 ing on or after 1 July 2008 Effective for annual periods beginn
4 ing on or after 1 October 2008 Effective for annual periods beginn
5 ods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 unless Generally effective for annual peri

FRSotherwise stated in the specific HKF
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

2.3 The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the
Group’s accounting policy for the firrst period beginning after the effective date of the
pronouncement.

Amongst these new standards and interpretations, HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of 
Financial Statements is expected to materially change the presentation of the Group’s
financial statements. These amendments affect the presentation of owner changes in equity
and introduce a statement of compreehensive income. The Group will have the option of
presenting items of income and expennses and components of other comprehensive income
either in a single statement of compprehensive income with subtotals, or in two separate
statements (a separate income stattement followed by a statement of comprehensive
income). These amendments do not aaffect the financial position or results of the Group but
will give rise to additional disclosures.

In addition, HKFRS 8 Operating Seggments may result in new or amended disclosures.
The directors are in the process of ideentifying reportable operating segments as defined in
HKFRS 8.

The directors are currently assessing the impact of other new and amended HKFRSs
upon initial application. So far, the ddirectors have preliminarily concluded that the initial
application of these HKFRSs is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results
and financial position.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies thaat have been used in the preparation of these financial
statements are summarised below. Thhese policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise stateed.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical convention basis except
for the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The measurement
bases are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting esstimates and assumptions are used in the preparation
of the financial statements. Althoughh these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ
from those estimates. These areas invvolving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or area where assumptions and estimmates are significant to the financial statements are
disclosed in note 4.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Basis of consolidation

corporate the financial statements of the CompanyThe consolidated financial statements inc
mber each year.and its subsidiaries made up to 31 Decem

3.3 Subsidiaries

al purpose entities) over which the Group has theSubsidiaries are entities (including specia
ating policies so as to obtain benefits from theirpower to control the financial and opera

otential voting rights that are currently exercisableactivities. The existence and effect of po
essing whether the Group controls another entity.or convertible are considered when asse
date on which control is transferred to the Group.Subsidiaries are consolidated from the d
m the date that control ceases.They are excluded from consolidation from

combining entities under common control) areBusiness combinations (other than for 
method. This involves the estimation of fair value ofaccounted for by applying the purchase m

ding contingent liabilities of the subsidiary, at theall identifiable assets and liabilities, inclu
not they were recorded in the financial statementsacquisition date, regardless of whether or 
initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of theof the subsidiary prior to acquisition. On 

ed balance sheet at their fair values, which are alsosubsidiary are included in the consolidate
rement in accordance with the Group’s accountingused as the bases for subsequent measur

policies.

unrealised gains on transactions between groupIntra-group transactions, balances and u
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealisedcompanies are eliminated in preparing t
saction provides evidence of an impairment of thelosses are also eliminated unless the trans

asset transferred.

aries are carried at cost less any impairment loss.In the Company’s balance sheet, subsidia
nted for by the Company on the basis of dividendsThe results of the subsidiaries are accoun
eet date.received and receivable at the balance sh

3.4 Prepaid lease payments

ront payments to acquire long term interests inPrepaid lease payments represent up-fr
tated at cost less accumulated amortisation andthe usage of land. The payments are st

ation will be calculated on the straight-line methodaccumulated impairment losses. Amortisa
over the lease terms.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, otherr than construction in progress (“CIP”), are stated at
acquisition cost less accumulated deepreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The
cost of an asset comprises its purchasse price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition andd location for its intended use. Subsequent costs are
included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future ecconomic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs
and maintenance, are charged to the income statement during the period in which they are
incurred.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposals is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying aamount of the asset and is recognised in the income
statement.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight line method, as follows:

Leasehold improvements 18% – 20%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipmennt 18% – 20%
Machinery 10% – 20%

The assets’ residual values, depreciattion methods and estimated useful lives are reviewed
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

CIP, which represents buildings under construction, and plant and equipment pending
installation, is stated at cost less any impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs
incurred during the periods of consttruction, installation and testing. No depreciation is
provided on CIP. CIP is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment and depreciation commences when the construction work is completed and the
asset is ready for use.

3.6 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower oof cost and net realisable value. Cost, is determined
using first-in, first-out basis and commprise direct materials and, where applicable, direct
labour and those overheads that havve been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion and applicable selling
expenses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.7 Financial assets

 other than investments in subsidiaries, into theThe Group classifies its financial assets,
nancial assets at fair value through profit or loss.following categories: receivables and fin
tion of its financial assets at initial recognitionManagement determines the classificat
financial assets were acquired and where alloweddepending on the purpose for which the 

ation at every reporting date.and appropriate, re-evaluates this designa

, and only when, the Group becomes a party toAll financial assets are recognised when
ent. Regular way purchases of financial assets arethe contractual provisions of the instrum
l assets are recognised initially, they are measuredrecognised on trade date. When financia

ents not at fair value through profit or loss, directlyat fair value, plus, in the case of investme
attributable transaction costs.

when the rights to receive cash flows from theDerecognition of financial assets occurs 
and substantially all of the risks and rewards ofinvestments expire or are transferred a
h balance sheet date, financial assets are reviewedownership have been transferred. At each
dence of impairment. If any such evidence exists,to assess whether there is objective evid
gnised based on the classification of the financialimpairment loss is determined and recog

assets.

h profit or loss(i) Financial assets at fair value throug

gh profit or loss includes financial assets held for Financial assets at fair value throug
purpose of selling in the near term.trading if they are acquired for the 

n, financial assets included in this category are Subsequent to initial recognition
s in fair value recognised in the income statement. measured at fair value with changes
rence to active market transactions or using a Fair value is determined by refe
ve market exists. Fair value gain or loss does not valuation technique where no activ
earned on these financial assets. Dividend and include any dividend or interest 

ccordance with the Group’s policies in note 3.18 to interest income is recognised in ac
these financial statements.

(ii) Receivables

ancial assets with fixed or determinable payments Receivables are non-derivative fina
market. Receivables are subsequently measured that are not quoted in an active 

tive interest method, less any impairment losses. at amortised cost using the effect
king into account any discount or premium on Amortised cost is calculated tak

are an integral part of the effective interest rate acquisition and includes fees that 
and transaction cost.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.7 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date, financial assets other than at fair value through profit or loss
are reviewed to determine whether there is any objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment off individual financial assets includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Grooup about one or more of the following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such ass a default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

– it becoming probable that thhe debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technnological, market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

– a significant or prolonged deccline in the fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

Loss events in respect of a group oof financial assets include observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the group of
financial assets. Such observable dataa includes but not limited to adverse changes in the
payment status of debtors in the grooup and, national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on the assets inn the group.

If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss is measured and recognised as follows:

(i) Financial assets carried at amorrtised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on receivables carried at
amortised cost has been incuurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial assset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initiall recognition). The amount of the loss is recognised in
income statement of the periodd in which the impairment occurs.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.7 Financial assets (Continued)

d cost (Continued)(i) Financial assets carried at amortise

ount of the impairment loss decreases and the If, in subsequent period, the am
y to an event occurring after the impairment was decrease can be related objectivel
sed impairment loss is reversed to the extent that recognised, the previously recognis
mount of the financial asset exceeding what the it does not result in a carrying am
had the impairment not been recognised at the amortised cost would have been 
he amount of the reversal is recognised in income date the impairment is reversed. Th
e reversal occurs.statement of the period in which th

(ii) Financial assets carried at cost

measured as the difference between the carrying The amount of impairment loss is 
the present value of estimated future cash flows amount of the financial asset and 
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such discounted at the current market 
in subsequent periods.impairment losses are not reversed 

al assets at fair value through profit or loss and Financial assets other than financi
t amortised cost, impairment losses are written off trade receivables that are stated at

directly. Where the recovery of trade receivables is against the corresponding assets d
te, the impairment losses for doubtful receivables considered doubtful but not remot
ccount. When the Group is satisfied that recovery are recorded using an allowance a
e amount considered irrecoverable is written off of trade receivables is remote, th

and any amounts held in the allowance account in against trade receivables directly a
rsed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously respect of that receivable are rever
are reversed against the allowance account. Other charged to the allowance account a
and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously changes in the allowance account 
n the income statement.written off directly are recognised in

3.8 Provisions and contingent liabilities

up has a present obligation (legal or constructive)Provisions are recognised when the Grou
bable that an outflow of economic benefits will beas a result of a past event, and it is prob
iable estimate can be made. Where the time valuerequired to settle the obligation and a rel

d at the present value of the expenditure expectedof money is material, provisions are stated
to settle the obligation.

nce sheet date and adjusted to reflect the currentAll provisions are reviewed at each balan
best estimate.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.8 Provisions and contingent liabilitiess (Continued)

Where it is not probable that an ouutflow of economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliablyy, the obligation is disclosed as contingent liabilities,
unless the probability of outflow of ecconomic benefit is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

3.9 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separattely are recognised initially at cost. After initial
recognition, those with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation ffor intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided
on straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses. Intanngible assets are tested for impairment as described
below in note 3.10. Amortisation commmences when the intangible assets are available for
use.

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activiities are expensed in the income statement as they
occur. Costs that are directly attribbutable to the development phase of the project
are recognised as intangible assets provided that they meet the following recognition
requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feassibility of the prospective product for internal use or
sale;

(ii) there is intention to complete thhe intangible asset and use or sell it;

(iii) the group’s ability to use or sell the intangible asset is demonstrated;

(iv) the intangible asset will generatte probable economic benefits through internal use or
sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial andd other resources are available for completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be reliably measured.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.9 Intangible assets (Continued)

ued)Research and development costs (Continu

urred on development along with an appropriateDirect costs include employee costs incu
of internally generated product developments areportion of relevant overheads. The costs 
re subject to the same subsequent measurementrecognised as intangible assets. These a
assets.method as externally acquired intangible 

d as incurred.All other development costs are expensed

3.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

lease payments, intangible assets and interests inProperty, plant and equipment, prepaid 
sting.subsidiaries are subject to impairment tes

nits are tested for impairment whenever there areAll individual assets or cash-generating u
nt may not be recoverable.indications that the asset’s carrying amoun

n expense immediately for the amount by whichAn impairment loss is recognised as an
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount isthe asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 

t conditions less costs to sell and value in use. Inthe higher of fair value, reflecting market
re cash flows are discounted to their present valueassessing value in use, the estimated futu
current market assessment of time value of moneyusing a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

and the risk specific to the asset.

nt, where an asset does not generate cash inflowsFor the purposes of assessing impairmen
her assets, the recoverable amount is determinedlargely independent from those from oth
enerate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-for the smallest group of assets that g
s are tested individually for impairment and somegenerating unit). As a result, some assets

are tested at cash-generating unit level.

generating units is charged pro rata to the assetsImpairment losses recognised for cash-g
the carrying value of an asset will not be reducedin the cash-generating unit, except that t
sell, or value in use, if determinable.below its individual fair value less cost to 

as been a favourable change in the estimates usedAn impairment loss is reversed if there ha
unt and only to the extent that the asset’s carryingto determine the asset’s recoverable amo
mount that would have been determined, net ofamount does not exceed the carrying a
ment loss had been recognised.depreciation or amortisation, if no impairm
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.11 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transacction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease
if the Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or
assets for an agreed period of time inn return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an eevaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangemennt takes the legal form of a lease.

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
Group are classified as operating leasees.

Where the Group has the use of assetts held under operating leases, payments made under
the leases are charged to the income statement on the straight-line method over the lease
terms except where an alternative bassis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to
be derived from the leased assets. Leease incentives received are recognised in the income
statement as an integral part of the agggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rental
are charged to the income statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

3.12 Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statemennts of the consolidated entities, foreign currency
transactions are translated into thee functional currency of the individual entity using
the exchange rates prevailing at thee dates of the transactions. At balance sheet date,
monetary assets and liabilities denoominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at thee balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement oof such transactions and from the balance sheet date
retranslation of monetary assets and liiabilities are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items carried at fair vvalue that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined and are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statemments, all individual financial statements of foreign
operations, originally presented in a currency different from the Group’s presentation
currency, have been converted into HKK$. Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$
at the closing rates at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses have been converted
into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average rates over
the reporting period provided that thhe exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any
differences arising from this procedure have been dealt with in the translation reserve in
equity.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.13 Accounting for income taxes

ferred tax.Income tax comprises current tax and def

es comprise those obligations to, or claims from,Current income tax assets and/or liabiliti
or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at thefiscal authorities relating to the current 
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicablebalance sheet date. They are calculated a
te, based on the taxable profit for the year. Allto the fiscal periods to which they rela

s are recognised as a component of tax expense inchanges to current tax assets or liabilities
the income statement.

ability method on temporary differences at theDeferred tax is calculated using the lia
g amounts of assets and liabilities in the financialbalance sheet date between the carrying
s. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognisedstatements and their respective tax bases
ferred tax assets are recognised for all deductiblefor all taxable temporary differences. Def
e to be carried forward as well as other unused taxtemporary differences, tax losses available
that taxable profit will be available against whichcredits, to the extent that it is probable 
nused tax losses and unused tax credits can bethe deductible temporary differences, u

utilised.

ot recognised if the temporary difference arisesDeferred tax assets and liabilities are n
business combination) of assets and liabilities in afrom initial recognition (other than in a b
or accounting profit or loss.transaction that affects neither taxable no

d for taxable temporary differences arising onDeferred tax liabilities are recognised
e the Group is able to control the reversal of theinvestments in subsidiaries, except where
that the temporary differences will not reverse intemporary differences and it is probable 

the foreseeable future.

ounting, at tax rates that are expected to applyDeferred tax is calculated, without disco
the asset realised, provided they are enacted orin the period the liability is settled or t
et date.substantively enacted at the balance shee

ies are recognised in the income statement, or inChanges in deferred tax assets or liabilit
ged or credited directly to equity.equity if they relate to items that are char
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Retirement benefit costs and short term employee benefits

(a) Retirement benefit costs

Retirement benefits to employeees are provided through defined contribution plans.
A defined contribution plan iss a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate enntity.

The Group operates a definedd contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (the “MPF Schheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employeess who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
The Group has no legal or consstructive obligations to pay further contributions after
payment of the fixed contributioon. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries tto the maximum mandatory contributions as required
by the MPF Scheme and are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with thhe rules of the MPF Scheme. Liabilities and assets
may be recognised if underpayyment or prepayment has occurred and are included
in current liabilities or current assets as they are normally of a short term nature.
The assets of the MPF Schemee are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered funnd. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The subsidiary operating in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) is required to
participate in the defined conntribution retirement schemes for their employees,
organised by the local muniicipal government. The subsidiary is required to
contribute a specified percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of thee central pension scheme.

(b) Short term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annnual leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is madde for the estimated liabilities for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Non-accumulating compensatedd absences such as sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time off leave.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.15 Cash and cash equivalents

at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banksCash and cash equivalents include cash a
with original maturities of three months or less thatand short-term highly liquid investments w
ts of cash and which are subject to an insignificantare readily convertible into known amoun
rafts which are repayable on demand and form anrisk of changes in value, less bank overdr
ment.integral part of the Group’s cash managem

3.16 Share capital

hare capital is determined using the nominal valueOrdinary shares are classified as equity. Sh
of shares that have been issued.

saction are deducted from share premium to theThe transaction costs of an equity trans
attributable to the equity transaction.extent of their incremental costs directly a

3.17 Share-based employee compensation

ranted after 7 November 2002 and had not vestedAll share-based payment arrangements g
financial statements. The Group operates equity-at 1 January 2005 are recognised in the 

for remuneration of its employees and directors.settled share-based compensation plans f

ge for the grant of any share-based compensationAll employee services received in exchang
are indirectly determined by reference to the shareare measured at their fair values. These a
d at the grant date and excludes the impact of anyoptions awarded. Their value is appraised
ple, profitability and sales growth targets).non-market vesting conditions (for examp

ely recognised as an expense in full at the grantAll share-based compensation is ultimate
vest immediately, with a corresponding credit todate when the share options granted v
or other vesting conditions apply, the expense isshare option reserve. If vesting periods 
d on the best available estimate of the number ofrecognised over the vesting period, base
ket vesting conditions are included in assumptionsshare options expected to vest. Non-mark
expected to become exercisable. Estimates areabout the number of options that are 

cation that the number of share options expectedsubsequently revised, if there is any indic
No adjustment to expense recognised in priorto vest differs from previous estimates. 

imately are exercised than originally vested.periods is made if fewer share options ult

oceeds received net of any directly attributableUpon exercise of share options, the pr
ue of the shares issued are reallocated to sharetransaction costs up to the nominal valu

s share premium.capital with any excess being recorded as
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.17 Share-based employee compensatioon (Continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferrred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
stock option reserve will be transferredd to accumulated losses.

3.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value foor the sale of goods, net of rebates and discounts.
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measuured reliably, revenue is recognised as follows:

Sales of goods are recognised upoon transfer of the significant risks and rewards of
ownership to the customer. This is usually taken as the time when the goods are delivered
and the customer has accepted the gooods.

Revenue from licensing is recognised when the rights to receive payment are established in
accordance with the underlying licenssing agreement, which is normally when the licensees
used the licensing services.

Bank interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

3.19 Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables and other payables and accrued
expenses.

Financial liabilities are recognised wwhen the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All interrest related charges are recognised as an expense in
finance costs in the income statementt.

A financial liability is derecognised whhen the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expired.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the teerms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is ttreated as a derecognition of the original liability and
the recognition of a new liability, andd the difference in the respective carrying amount is
recognised in the income statement.

Trade payables and other payables aand accrued expenses are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.20 Related parties

ments, a party is considered to be related to theFor the purposes of these financial state
Group if:

r indirectly through one or more intermediaries, to(i) the party has the ability, directly or
ficant influence over the Group in making financial control the group or exercise signif
has joint control over the Group;and operating policy decisions, or h

t to common control;(ii) the Group and the party are subjec

Group or a joint venture in which the Group is a(iii) the party is an associate of the G
venturer;

agement personnel of the Group or its parent, or(iv) the party is a member of key mana
individual, or is an entity under the control, joint a close family member of such an 

uch individuals;control or significant influence of su

of a party referred to in (i) or is an entity under the(v) the party is a close family member 
nfluence of such individuals; orcontrol, joint control or significant i

nefit plan which is for the benefit of employees of(vi) the party is a post-employment be
related party of the Group.the Group or of any entity that is a 

re those family members who may be expected toClose family members of an individual ar
dual in their dealings with the entity.influence, or be influenced by, that individ

3.21 Segment reporting

inancial reporting, the Group has determined thatIn accordance with the Group’s internal fi
rimary reporting format and geographical segmentbusiness segment be presented as the pr

as the secondary reporting format.

g, unallocated costs included corporate expensesIn respect of business segment reporting
ocated on a reasonable basis to the reportableand other expenses that cannot be allo

arily of property, plant and equipment, intangiblesegments. Segment assets consist prima
posits paid for plant and equipment, inventories,assets, prepaid land lease payments, de

clude corporate assets and financial assets at fairreceivables and operating cash, and exc
abilities comprise operating liabilites and excludevalue through profit or loss. Segment lia

items such as other payables.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.21 Segment reporting (Continued)

Capital expenditure comprises additions of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets, prepaid land lease payments and deposits paid for plant and equipment.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, revenue is based on the country in which
the customer is located and total asssets and capital expenditure are where the assets are
located.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually eevaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptioons concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financcial year are discussed below:

Impairment of the property, plant and equipment and capitalised costs incurred on the land 

where the related prepaid lease paymentts had already been made in 2007

In 2007, the Group acquired an interest in a leasehold land in Yunfu City (the “Land”), Guangdong
Province, the PRC, for its biotech renewable energy operations in forthcoming years. In June 2008,
the Group was informed by the local authoorities that it might need to choose another piece of
land for its construction of the plant, as thee local authorities now plan to build a railway station
adjacent to the Land. The Group has not yeet chosen another new leasehold land at year end and
the negotiation with the local authorities is sstill in progress. The Group’s management determines
that the property, plant and equipment andd capitalised costs incurred on the Land so far are no
longer recoverable and therefore these costss are fully impaired and written off during the year.

Provision for impairment of receivables

The policy for the provision for impairment oof receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation
of collectability and on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of judgement
is required in assessing the ultimate reallisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the collateral securityy. If the financial conditions of the borrowers of the
Group were to deteriorate, resulting in impaairment of their ability to make repayments, additional
allowance may be required. If the financial conditions of the borrowers of the Group, on whose
account provision for impairment has beenn made, were improved and no impairment of their
ability to make payments were noted, reversal of provision for impairment may be required.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

ted selling price in the ordinary course of business,Net realisable value of inventories is the estimat
es are based on the current market condition andless estimated selling expenses. These estimate
f similar nature. It could change significantly as athe historical experience of selling products of
nges in market condition. Management reassessesresult of competitor actions in response to chan

the estimations at the balance sheet date.

Estimated useful life of intangible asset

 know-how from an independent third party forIn 2007, the Group acquired certain technical
w amortised on a straight-line method over theHK$2,000,000. The technical know-how is now
ed useful life reflects the directors’ estimate of theestimated useful lives of 10 years. The estimate
e economic benefits from the use of the technicalperiods that the Group intends to derive future
d useful life at the balance sheet date.know-how. Management reassesses its estimated

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

epresents the total invoiced value of goods sold,Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, re
ognised during the year is as follows:web design and licensing income. Revenue reco

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Sale of goods 6,005 6,166
Web design – 69
Licensing income 522 574

6,527 6,809

d and managed separately, according to the natureThe Group’s operating businesses are structured
vices they provide. Each of the Group’s businessof their operations and the products and serv
hat offers products and services which are subjectsegments represents a strategic business unit t
se of the other business segments. Details of the to risks and returns that are different from thos

business segments are summarised as follows:

dded systems(a) Sales and licensing of software and embe

gy(b) Development of biotech renewable energ

has not yet generated any revenue to the GroupThe development of biotech renewable energy 
December 2007.for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 31 D



54
China Bio Cassava Holdings LimitedANNUAL REPORT 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2008F h d d 31 D b 2008

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Business segments

The following table presents revenue, loss and assets, liabilities and expenditure
information for the Group’s business ssegments for the years ended 31 December 2008 and
2007:

 Sales annd licensing Development
 of softtware and of biotech
 embedded systems renewable energy Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:

Sales to external customers 6,527 6,809 – – 6,527 6,809

Segment results (1,582) (1,231) (2,938) (29,961) (4,520) (31,192)

Bank interest income 406 1,052
Net fair value (loss)/gain on
 financial assets at fair value
 through profit or loss (1,242) 169
Unallocated expenses (7,622) (11,254)

Operating loss (12,978) (41,225)

Finance costs – –

Loss for the year (12,978) (41,225)

Segment assets 2,540 3,831 10,927 8,826 13,467 12,657

Unallocated assets 15,311 26,868

Total assets 28,778 39,525

Segment liabilities (1,642) (1,409) (1,777) (392) (3,419) (1,801)

Unallocated liabilities (330) (583)

Total liabilities (3,749) (2,384)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Business segments (Continued)

censing Development Sales and lic
e and of biotech of softwar

systems renewable energy Consolidated embedded s

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other segment information:

Depreciation and amortisation 47 60 266 110 313 170
Unallocated depreciation 145 100

Total depreciation and 
 amortisation 458 270

Capital expenditure 64 60 3,776 5,408 3,840 5,468
Unallocated capital expenditure 86 805

Total capital expenditure 3,926 6,273

Share based payments – – – 29,053 – 29,053
Unallocated share based payments – 4,461

Total share based payments – 33,514

Write off of property,  plant
 and equipment 19 – – – 19 –
Unallocated write off of property,
 plant and equipment 214 –

Total write off of property, plant
 and equipment 233 –

Provision for impairment of 
 property, plant and equipment – – 1,073 – 1,073 –

Provision for impairment 
 of prepaid lease payments – – 61 – 61 –

Write-down of inventories
 to net realisable value 73 – – – 73 –
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Geographical segments

The following table presents revenuee, assets and expenditure information for the Group’s
geographical segments for the years eended 31 December 2008 and 2007:

 Hong Kong Mainland China Macau Total

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:

Sales to external customers 6,391 6,647 136 162 – – 6,527 6,809

Other segment
 information:

Segment assets 3,824 3,887 8,791 9,225 1,172 272 13,787 13,384

Unallocated assets 14,991 26,141

Total assets 28,778 39,525

Capital expenditure 64 472 3,438 5,344 338 64 3,840 5,880

Unallocated 
 capital expenditure 86 393

Total capital expenditure 3,926 6,273

Sales are based on the country in whhich the Group’s customers are located and segment
assets and capital expenditure are wheere the assets are located.

6. OTHER REVENUE

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income on financial assets stated at amortised cost 406 1,052
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair valuue through

profit or loss – held for trading – 169
Sundry income 145 478

551 1,699
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7. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

ng/(crediting):Loss before income tax is arrived at after chargin
Net foreign exchange gain (139) (369)

udingCost of inventories recognised as expenses, incl 1,233 1,312
value – Write-down of inventories to net realisable v 73 –

Auditors’ remuneration
– current year 460 450 #

– underprovision in prior year 34 8
Depreciation 258 170
Amortisation of intangible assets 200 100
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) ote 11(n ) 8,015 11,512

e throughNet fair value loss on financial assets at fair valu
profit or loss – held for trading* 1,242 –

Write-off of property, plant and equipment* 233 –
buildingsOperating lease charges in respect of land and 2,316 1,911

Write-off of obsolete inventories* 1 15
Share-based payments (including directors and 

employees) (note 24) – 33,514
equipment* Provision for impairment of property, plant and e 1,073 –
ents*Provision for impairment of prepaid lease payme 61 –

Research and development costs 2,587 1,191

* included in other operating expenses
# rm with the current year presentationcomparative figure has been reclassified to confo
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided in both years as the Group did not generate any
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007.

No profits tax for the subsidiaries operatingg outside Hong Kong has not been provided as these
subsidiaries have not generated any assessable profits in the respective jurisdictions (2007: Nil).

Reconciliation between income tax expensse and accounting loss at applicable tax rates is as
follows:

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (12,978) (41,225)

Tax calculated at the rates applicable to the tax
jurisdiction concerned (2,259) (7,214)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 2,015 7,177
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (92) (252)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recoggnised (3) (3)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 339 292

Income tax expense – –

The Hong Kong SAR Government enacted aa reduction in the Profits Tax Rate from 17.5% to 16.5%
with effect from the year of assessment 2008/2009. In March 2007, the government of the PRC
enacted the new enterprise income tax (“EEIT”) rate for domestic and foreign enterprises in the
PRC at 25% with effective from 1 January 22008. For the year ended 31 December 2007, the EIT
rate applicable to the Group’s operations in the PRC was 15%.

At 31 December 2008, the Group has deeferred tax assets mainly arising from tax losses of
the subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong and in the PRC of approximately HK$6,159,000 and
HK$493,000 (2007: HK$4,209,000 and HK$421,000) respectively. However, deferred tax assets have
not been recognised as it is uncertain wheether sufficient future taxable profits will be available
for utilising the accumulated tax losses. The tax losses of the subsidiaries operating in the PRC
can be carried forward for 5 years and tax loosses of the companies within the Group operating in
Hong Kong will not be expired under the current tax legislation.
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9. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

equity holders of the Company of HK$12,978,000Of the consolidated loss attributable to the e
(2007: HK$41,266,000) has been dealt with in the(2007: HK$41,225,000), a loss of HK$13,824,000 

financial statements of the Company.

10. LOSS PER SHARE

ttributable to the ordinary equity holders of theThe calculation of the basic loss per share at
or the year attributable to equity holders of theCompany is based on the consolidated loss f
000) and the weighted average of 7,789,438,082Company of HK$12,978,000 (2007: HK$41,225,0

mpany in issue during the year.(2007: 7,650,742,857) ordinary shares of the Com

December 2008 and 31 December 2007 are notDiluted loss per share for the years ended 31 
outstanding share options and warrants were anti-presented as the impacts of the exercise of the 

dilutive.

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages and salaries 7,767 6,854
Share-based payments (note 24) – 4,461
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 248 197

8,015 11,512
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENT

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to thhe directors were as follows:

    Contributions
  Salaries and Discretionary to pension
 FFees allowances bonuses* scheme Total
 HK$’’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2008
Executive directors
Tam Kam Biu, William – 724 120 12 856
Kwan Kin Chung – 780 130 12 922
Wan Xiaolin – – – – –
Chen Man Lung – 300 50 12 362

Sub-total – 1,804 300 36 2,140

Non-executive directors
Leung Lap Yan 120 180 – – 300
Leung Lap Fu, Warren 60 171 20 9 260

Sub-total 180 351 20 9 560

Independent non-executive
 directors
Ip Chi Wai 60 – – – 60
Shiu Kwok Keung 60 – – – 60
Tse Wang Cheung, Angus 60 – – – 60

Sub-total 180 – – – 180

Total 360 2,155 320 45 2,880

* Discretionary bonuses payments weree determined based on the performance of the directors during 

the year.
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENT 

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

 Contributions  
Salaries and to pension Share-based  S

allowances scheme payments Total Fees 
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

2007
Executive directors
Leung Lap Yan (2) 275 5 – 330 50 

720 12 879 1,611Tam Kam Biu, William – 
Leung Lap Fu, Warren (2) 100 5 – 130 25 

630 10 703 1,373Kwan Kin Chung 30 
– – 527 527Wan Xiaolin – 

Chen Man Lung (1) 150 6 703 859 – 

1,875 38 2,812 4,830Sub-total 105 

Non-executive directors
Leung Lap Yan (2) 105 – 351 526 70 
Leung Lap Fu, Warren (2) 140 7 351 533 35 

245 7 702 1,059Sub-total 105 

Independent non-executive
 directors

– – 176 236Ip Chi Wai 60 
– – 176 236Shiu Kwok Keung 60 
– – 176 236Tse Wang Cheung, Angus 60 

– – 528 708Sub-total 180 

Total 2,120 45 4,042 6,597390 

Notes:

1 Appointed on 29 May 2007

2 Re-designated on 23 May 2007
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENT 

(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emolumentts were the highest in the Group for the year included
three (2007: four) directors whose eemoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. The emolument payable to thhe remaining two (2007: one) highest paid individual
during the year is as follows:

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, allowances and other beenefits in kind 751 398
Discretionary bonuses 25 –
Contributions to pension scheme 24 12

800 410

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2008 2007

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 – –

2 1

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the Company’s directors or any
of the five highest paid employees as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office (20007: Nil). None of the directors has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during each of the two years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP
 Furniture,
 fixtures and 

Leasehold office 
rovements equipment Machinery TotalCIP impr

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000HK$’000 
At 1 January 2007

482 3,356 – 3,838Cost – 
(445) (3,236) – (3,681)Accumulated depreciation – 

37 120 – 157Net book amount – 

Year ended 31 December 2007
37 120 – 157Opening net book amount – 

622 204 – 826Additions – 
(94) (76) – (170)Depreciation – 

– 3 – 3Exchange difference – 

565 251 – 816Closing net book amount – 

At 31 December 2007
710 533 – 1,243Cost – 

(145) (282) – (427)Accumulated depreciation – 

565 251 – 816Net book amount – 

Year ended 31 December 2008
565 251 – 816Opening net book amount – 

95 171 451 2,393Additions 1,676 
(134) (80) (44) (258)Depreciation – 
(214) (19) – (233)Write-off – 

– – – (1,073)Provision for impairment (1,073) 
– 1 – 1Exchange difference – 

312 324 407 1,646Closing net book amount 603 

At 31 December 2008
501 505 451 3,133Cost 1,676 

Accumulated depreciation and
(189) (181) (44) (1,487)impairment (1,073) 

Net book amount 312 324 407 1,646603 

ment made on CIP.Please refer to note 14 for the details of impairm
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

COMPANY

 Furniture,
 fixtures and

Leasehold office 
improvements equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2007
Cost – 24 24
Accumulated depreciation – (1) (1)

Net book amount – 23 23

Year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount – 23 23
Additions 266 126 392
Depreciation (48) (25) (73)

Closing net book amount 218 124 342

At 31 December 2007
Cost 266 150 416
Accumulated depreciation (48) (26) (74)

Net book amount 218 124 342

Year ended 31 December 2008
Opening net book amount 218 124 342
Additions 70 16 86
Depreciation (51) (32) (83)
Write-off (214) – (214)

Closing net book amount 23 108 131

At 31 December 2008
Cost 32 166 198
Accumulated depreciation (9) (58) (67)

Net book amount 23 108 131
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14. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS – GROUP

es for its biotech renewable energy operations inIn preparation to build the production facilitie
d an interest in a leasehold land (the “Land”) inforthcoming years, in 2007, the Group acquire
e prepaid lease payments represent the prepaidYunfu City, Guangdong Province, the PRC. Th
her initial direct costs).operating lease payments (which include the oth

Leasehold land
HK$’000

At 1 January 2007
–Cost 
–Accumulated amortisation 

–Net book amount 

Year ended 31 December 2007
–Opening net book amount 

2,025Additions 

2,025Closing net book amount 

At 31 December 2007
2,025Cost 

–Accumulated amortisation 

2,025Net book amount 

Year ended 31 December 2008
2,025Opening net book amount 

–Additions 
(61)Provision for impairment 
128Exchange difference 

2,092Closing net book amount 

At 31 December 2008
2,153Cost 

(61)Accumulated amortisation and impairment 

Net book amount 2,092
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14. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS – GROUP (Continued)

The Group is still in the process of applying for the land use right certificate from the local
authorities and the lease term has not yet been confirmed by the local authorities since the
payments made in 2007.

In June 2008, the Group was informed byy the local authorities that it might need to choose
another piece of land for its construction oof the plant as the local authorities now plan to build
a railway station adjacent to the Land. The Group has not yet chosen another new leasehold
land at year end and the negotiation with the local authorities is still in progress. The Group’s
management determines that the property, plant and equipment of HK$1,073,000 and the
capitalised costs of HK$61,000 incurred oon the Land so far are no longer recoverable and
therefore these costs are fully impaired and wwritten off during the year.

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS – GROUP AND COMPANY

Technical
know-how

HK$’000

At 1 January 2007
Cost –
Accumulated amortisation –

Net book amount –

Year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount –
Additions 2,000
Amortisation (100)

Closing net book amount 1,900

At 31 December 2007
Cost 2,000
Accumulated amortisation (100)

Net book amount 1,900
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS – GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

Technical
know-how

HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2008
1,900Opening net book amount 

(200)Amortisation 

1,700Closing net book amount 

At 31 December 2008
2,000Cost 

(300)Accumulated amortisation 

Net book amount 1,700

’s biotech renewable energy operations and wasThe technical know-how relates to the Group’
K$2,000,000 in June 2007. The estimated useful lifeacquired from an independent third party for HK
ctors are of the opinion that there is no indicationof the technical know-how is 10 years. The direc
008.of any impairment in value as at 31 December 20

16. OTHER RECEIVABLE – GROUP

ndependent third party on 15 December 2008, the Pursuant to an agreement entered into with an i
third party for the purpose of seeking bio cassavaGroup paid a deposit of HK$1,200,000 to this t
PRC. Under the agreement, in the circumstancesinvestment opportunities for the Group in the 

this amount will be used as the initial capitalwhen investment opportunity is identified, t
contrary, when no investments can be successfullycontribution to the investment project. To the c

will be repaid by this third party before 31 Januaryidentified by 31 December 2009, this amount w
2010.

e directors of the Company consider that the fairThe amount is unsecured and interest free. The
ent from its carrying amount.value of other receivable is not materially differe
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES – 
COMPANY

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 7,502 7,502
Less: Provision for impairment (5,001) (2,001)

2,501 5,501

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts due from subsidiaries 112,378 107,756
Less: Provision for impairment (105,703) (101,653)

6,675 6,103

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2008 are as follows:

Place of  Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and Percentage of Principal
registration  fully paid  issued capital activities
and kind of  share capital/  held by the  and place of

Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital Company operations
  Directly Indirectly

Q9 Technology (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands,  100 ordinary shares 100% – Investment holding
 limited liability company  of US$1 each    in Hong Kong

Q9-Tech Energy  Hong Kong, 100 ordinary shares 100% – Investment holding of 
Development Limited   limited liability company  of HK$1 each    shares in Hong Kong

Q9-Tech Energy  British Virgin Islands, 100 ordinary shares 100% – Inactive during the year
Development Limited  limited liability company  of US$1 each

Qcode Chinese Computer Hong Kong, 600,000 ordinary shares – 100% Holding patents in
Limited  limited liability company  of HK$1 each    Hong Kong

Q9 Technology Company  Hong Kong, 1 ordinary share – 100% Provision of institution 
Limited  limited liability company  of HK$1 each    and corporate services

     in Hong Kong
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES – 
COMPANY (Continued)

cember 2008 are as follows: Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 Dec (Continued)

articulars ofPlace of  Pa
sued and Percentage of Principalincorporation/ iss
lly paid  issued capital activitiesregistration  fu
are capital/  held by the  and place ofand kind of  sh
gistered capital Company operationsName of subsidiary legal entity re

Directly Indirectly  

ordinary share – 100% Sales and licensing ofQ9 Technology (Retail) Hong Kong,  1 o
of HK$1 each    computer softwareCompany Limited  limited liability company  

   in Hong Kong  

ordinary share – 100% Development andQ9 Technology (OEM) Hong Kong,  1 o
of HK$1 each    licensing of computerCompany Limited  limited liability company  

   software in   
   Hong Kong  

K$2,000,000 – 100% Development,Q9 Technology (Shenzhen)  PRC, HK
    sales and licensing ofLimited  limited liability company  
   computer software  
   in the PRC  

K$5,000,000 – 100% Production andYunfu City Jiu Fang PRC, HK
   sales of ethanolAgriculture Science  limited liability company  
   in the PRC, however,and Technology    
   the business of Development Company   
   the company has notLimited   
   been commenced   

00 ordinary shares – 100% Investments holding ofQ9 Investments Limited British Virgin Islands,  10
of US$1 each    shares and funds in limited liability company  

   Hong Kong  

OP$25,000 – 100% Research andNew Q9-Tech Equipment Macau, MO
    development forTrading Limited  limited liability company  
   biotechnology  

es subsisting at the end of the year or at any timeNone of the subsidiaries had any debt securitie
during the year.

Company as at 31 December 2008 which, in theThe above table lists the subsidiaries of the C
the results for the year or formed a substantialopinion of the directors, principally affected 
ails of all the subsidiaries would, in the opinion ofportion of the net assets of Group. To give deta

ength.the directors, result in particulars of excessive le
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18. INVENTORIES – GROUP

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Merchandise 198 183
Finished goods 74 48

272 231

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS – GROUP

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 241 533
Listed unit trusts in Hong Kong 175 361

416 894

The carrying amounts of the above financiaal assets, all of which are held for trading, represent
their market value.

As at 1 January 2008, the Group held 1,000,0000 shares of Culturecom Holdings Limited, one of the
substantial shareholders of the Company, annd its value of HK$169,000 was included in “Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss”. DDuring the year, the Group disposed all these shares in
the market and a loss of HK$39,000 was inccluded in income statement under “Net fair value loss
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”.

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES – GROUP

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 372 2,945
Less: Provision for impairment – (2,433)

Trade receivables – net 372 512
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES – GROUP (Continued)

rded using an allowance account unless the GroupImpairment losses on trade receivables are reco
te, in which case the impairment loss is written offis satisfied that recovery of the amount is remot
n the provision for impairment of trade receivablesagainst trade receivables directly. Movements in

are as follows:

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year 2,433 2,643
Amount written off as uncollectible (2,433) (210)

At the end of the year – 2,433

trade receivables were individually determined toAt each of the balance sheet date, the Group’s 
bles are recognised based on the credit history ofbe impaired. The individually impaired receivab
efault in payments, and current market conditions. its customers, such as financial difficulties or de
was recognised. The Group does not hold anyConsequently, specific impairment provision 

collateral over these balances.

hat the fair values of trade receivables are notThe directors of the Company considered th
nts because these amounts have short maturitymaterially different from their carrying amoun

periods on their inception.

term of 30-90 days to its trade customers. At 31 The Group generally allows an average credit 
geing analysis of trade receivables at the balanceDecember 2008, based on the invoice dates, a

sheet date, net of allowances, is as follows:

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current 339 272
31 – 90 days 32 239
91 – 180 days 1 1

372 512
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES – GROUP (Continued)

Ageing analysis of trade receivables that aree not impaired is as follows:

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 353 512
Past due but not impaired 19 –

372 512

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of defauult. Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a customer with long business reelationship and the receivables were aged within half
year. Based on past experience, managemeent believes that no additional impairment allowance
is necessary as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
considered fully recoverable.

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

GROUP

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks and in hand 3,605 10,820
Short-term bank deposits 13,500 20,000

Cash and cash equivalents in consolidated bbalance sheet 17,105 30,820

COMPANY

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks and in hand 668 4,507
Short-term bank deposits 13,500 20,000

Cash and cash equivalents in balance sheet 14,168 24,507
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

s based on the daily bank deposit rates. Short-termCash at banks earns interest at the floating rates
ng between one day and three months dependingbank deposits were made for the periods rangin
p, and earned interest at the respective short-termon the immediate cash requirement of the Grou
e cash and cash equivalents approximate to theirtime deposit rates. The carrying amounts of th

fair values.

roup are HK$981,000 (2007: HK$3,826,000) of bankIncluded in cash and cash equivalents of the Gr
placed with the banks in the PRC. RMB is not abalances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) p

PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations andfreely convertible currency. However, under the 
nt of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group isAdministration of Settlement, Sale and Paymen
s through the banks authorised to conduct foreignpermitted to exchange RMB for other currencies

exchange business.

22. TRADE PAYABLES – GROUP

credit period of 30 days. At 31 December 2008,The Group was granted by its suppliers for a 
rade payables is as follows:based on the invoice dates, ageing analysis of tr

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current 65 73
31 – 90 days 18 28
91 – 180 days 5 1
Over 180 days 3 –

91 102
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23. SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital of the Company consists oonly of ordinary shares. All shares are equally eligible
to receive dividends and the repayment of capital.

Number of shares of Number of shares of
HK$00.01 each HK$0.0025 each Share capital

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Notes ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares at beginning of year  – 50,000,000 200,000,000 – 500,000 500,000
Share Subdivision (a) – (50,000,000) – 200,000,000 – –

Ordinary shares at end of year  – – 200,000,000 200,000,000 500,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares at beginning of year  – 1,869,525 7,771,700 – 19,429 18,695
Exercise of warrants (b) – 53,400 – – – 534
Share Subdivision (a) – (1,922,925) – 7,691,700 – –
Exercise of warrants (b) – – 32,400 80,000 81 200

Ordinary shares at end of year – – 7,804,100 7,771,700 19,510 19,429

Note:

(a) Share subdivision

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 29 June 2007, with effective from 3 July 2007, 1 share of 

HK$0.01 each in the issued and unissued shhare capital of the Company were subdivided into 4 shares of 

HK$0.0025 each (the “Share Subdivision”).

Upon the Share Subdivision becoming effecctive, the authorised share capital of the Company remained at 

HK$500,000,000 but was divided into 200,000,000,000 subdivided shares with par value of HK$0.0025 each. 

The issued share capital of the Company wass changed from 1,922,925,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each to 

7,691,700,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each.



75
China Bio Cassava Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2008F h d d 31 D b 2008

23. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(b) Exercise of warrants

d into the placing agreement with the placing agent in On 13 December 2006, the Company entered

itten basis, to place up to 249,200,000 warrants conferring connection with the placing, on a fully underwri

t an initial subscription price of HK$0.076 per share. The rights to subscribe up to 249,200,000 shares at

025 per warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder thereto warrants are placed at an issue price of HK$0.0

initial subscription price of HK$0.076 per share, subject to to subscribe for 1 share of HK$0.01 each at an 

cing from the date of listing of the warrants. The placing was adjustment, during the two-year period commenc

warrants were fully placed. Dealings in the warrants on the completed on 19 January 2007 and 249,200,000 

anuary 2007.Hong Kong Stock Exchange commenced on 29 Ja

t subscription amounting to HK$4,058,400 was received, In 2007, before the Share Subdivision, warrant

into 53,400,000 shares of HK$0.01 each with the then representing 53,400,000 warrants convertible 

the Share Subdivision, warrants subscription amounting to subscription price of HK$0.076 per share. After 

000 warrants convertible into 80,000,000 shares of HK$0.0025 HK$1,520,000 was received, representing 80,000,0

share.each with the subscription price of HK$0.019 per 

ng to HK$615,600 was received, representing 32,400,000 During the year, warrant subscription amountin

K$0.0025 each with the subscription price of HK$0.019 per warrants convertible into 32,400,000 shares of H

share.

0,800,000 warrants outstanding. The exercise in full of such As at 31 December 2008, the Company had 670

cture of the Company, result in the issue of 670,800,000 warrants would, under the present capital stru

r to note 32 for the exercise of such warrants subsequent to additional shares of HK$0.0025 each. Please refer

31 December 2008.

24. SHARE – BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

Scheme was terminated and was replaced on theOn 27 April 2007, the Post-IPO Share Option S
Scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) whichsame date by the new Post-IPO Share Option 

remained in force as at 31 December 2008.

nd the New Share Option Scheme, options mayUnder the Post-IPO Share Option Schemes an
ultants, customers, suppliers, agents, partners orbe granted to any directors, employees, cons
e participants”) or any entity in which any memberadvisers of or contractor to the Group (“Eligible
nary trust whose discretionary objects include anyof the Group holds any interest; any discretion
lly owned by any Eligible participants; and thoseEligible participants; and a company beneficia
as resolved is qualified to be an eligible participantperson or company whom or which the board ha
y option granted to him or it remains outstanding.must remain eligible during the period when any

nt of the exercise period, which is determined byThe share options vest upon the commenceme
the directors at the date of grant.
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24. SHARE – BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (Continued)

All share-based employee compensation wwill be settled in equity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or setttle the options. There were no share options granted
and cancelled during the year. Movements oof the share options during the year are as follows:

2008 2008 2007 2007
Weighted  Weighted

 average  average
 exercise price  exercise price

Number HK$ Number* HK$*

At 1 January 756,760,000 0.1125 – –
Cancelled – – – –
Granted – – 756,760,000 0.1125

At 31 December 756,760,000 0.1125 756,760,000 0.1125

All share options as at 31 December 2007 annd 31 December 2008 are accounted for under HKFRS
2 “Share-based Payment”. The options outsttanding at 31 December 2008 had a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 8.4 years (20077: 9.4 years). The exercise prices and exercise periods
of the share options outstanding as at the baalance dates are as follows:

2008 2008 2007 2007
Weighted  Weighted

 average  average
 exercise price  exercise price

Number HK$ Number* HK$*

Exercisable period:
29-5-2007 to 28-5-2017 756,760,000 0.1125 756,760,000 0.1125

756,760,000 0.1125 756,760,000 0.1125

Note:

* The exercise price of the share options is suubject to adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or other 

similar changes in the Company’s share capiital. Pursuant to the Share Subdivision effective on 3 July 2007, 

total number of share options outstanding, the exercise price of the share options outstanding and the 

closing price of shares immediately before the date of grant were adjusted accordingly. The number of 

options granted and the exercise price were adjusted as a result of the Share Subdivision. The closing price 

of the shares immediately before the date oof grant of the option was HK$0.1125 (adjusted after the Share 

Subdivision).
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24. SHARE – BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (Continued)

the option period provided that the options haveThe options may be exercised at any time of t
mmencement of exercise period.been vested. The options were vested upon com

756,760,000 share options outstanding under theAt the balance sheet date, the Company had 
l of the remaining share options would under theNew Share Option Scheme. The exercise in ful
ulting in issue of 756,760,000 additional ordinarypresent capital structure of the Company, resu

capital of HK$1,891,900 and share premium ofshares of the Company and additional share 
HK$83,243,600 (before the issue expenses).

y 2007 of HK$33,514,000, in which HK$4,461,000The fair value of options granted on 29 May
HK$29,053,000 was granted to consultants, werewas granted to directors and employees and 
er using the Binomial Model, with modification todetermined by an independent third party valu
option value.reflect the exit rate and exercise pattern on the 

ants was measured, indirectly, by reference to theThe fair value of services received from consult
ue of the services received could not be estimatedfair value of the options granted as the fair valu

reliably by the Company.

options granted on 29 May 2007 include: (i) anKey assumptions used in the valuation of the 
olatility of share price of about 105% per annumexpected nil dividend yield per annum, (ii) vo
price has considered the history price movement(estimation of volatility for underlying stock p

stant annualised standard deviation on the priceof the Company, and it is projected on a con
the option’s life), (iii) a risk free rate of 4.47%, bymovement of 105% to be applied throughout t
e Fund Notes, (iv) that the directors, employeesreference to the yield of 10-year of Exchange
ns if the share price is above the exercise priceand consultants will exercise their share optio

ely and (v) exit rate for directors, employees andby 2 times, 1.5 times and 1.5 times respective
pectively.consultants of 27%, 43% and 0% per annum resp

pensation expenses was included in the incomeA total of HK$33,514,000 of share-based com
007 which gave rise to share option reserve. Nostatement for the year ended 31 December 2

payment transactions.liabilities were recognised due to share-based p
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25. RESERVES

GROUP

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 35 of the financial
statements.

COMPANY

Share Warraants Reorganisation Stock option Accumulated
premium reseerve reserve reserve losses Total
HK$’000 HK$$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2007 104,596 66,250 2,501 – (109,500) 3,847
Loss for the year – – – – (41,266) (41,266)
Issue of warrants – 66,230 – – – 6,230
Warrant issue expenses – (994) – – – (994)
Exercise of warrants 6,386 (1,542) – – – 4,844
Equity-settled share-based

payment expense – – – 33,514 – 33,514

At 31 December 2007 and
1 January 2008 110,982 99,944 2,501 33,514 (150,766) 6,175

Loss for the year – – – – (13,824) (13,824)
Exercise of warrants 704 (170) – – – 534

At 31 December 2008 111,686 9,,774 2,501 33,514 (164,590) (7,115)

Notes:

(a) The warrants reserve represents the proceedds from the issue of 250,000,000 warrants (“2002 warrants”) on 5 

February 2002 and the issue of warrants in 20007 as detailed in note 23(b). The subscription period of the 2002 

warrants has already expired in 2003 and no wwarrants were exercised up to the date of expiry.

(b) The reorganisation reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares of the 

subsidiaries acquired and the HK$7,500,000 loan capitalised and the nominal value of the shares issued by 

the Company as the consideration therefor.
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26. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

GROUP

m lease payments under non-cancellable operatingAt 31 December 2008, the total future minimum
yable as follows:leases in respect of land and buildings were pay

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,168 1,354
In the second to the fifth year 895 45

2,063 1,399

COMPANY

m lease payments under non-cancellable operating At 31 December 2008, the total future minimum
yable as follows:leases in respect of land and buildings were pay

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 46 371
In the second to the fifth year – –

46 371

operating lease. The lease runs for an initial periodThe Group/Company leases premises under an o
the lease at the expiry date or at dates mutuallyof one to two years, with an option to renew 

he lease does not include contingent rental.agreed between the Group and the landlord. Th
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27. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS/CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

GROUP

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment
Contracted but not provided for 3,987 3,311

The Group does not have any significant conntingent liabilities as at 31 December 2008 and 2007.

COMPANY

The Company does not have any significaant commitments and contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2008 and 2007.

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
the Group had the following transactioons with related parties during the year:

 2008 2007
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Office and warehouse rental expensess
– Culturecom Centre Limited (warehouuse) (i) – 5
– Culturecom Centre Limited (office) (i) 539 600
– Winway H.K. Limited (office) (ii) 506 –

1,045 605
Consultancy fees
– Ms. Heidi Leung (iii) 490 280

Notes:

(i) Office in Kwun Tong and warehouse rental agreements were entered into with Culturecom Centre 

Limited, a subsidiary of Culturecom Holdings Limited, one of the substantial shareholders of the 

Company, with rental charged at fixedd monthly fees.

(ii) Rental agreement for office was enteered into with Winway H.K. Limited, a subsidiary of Culturecom 

Holdings Limited, with rental chargedd at fixed monthly fees.

(iii) The Group paid monthly consultancyy fees of HK$40,000 to Ms. Heidi Leung, the daughter of one 

of the non-executive director of thhe Company, Mr. Leung Lap Yan. The marketing and public 

relationships services were provided ffrom 1 June 2007.
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

nnel(b) Compensation of key management perso

GROUP

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits 2,155 2,908
Discretionary bonuses 320 –
Post-employment benefits 45 57
Share-based payment – 4,042

2,520 7,007

expenses are amounts due to Mr. Leung Lap Yan,(c) Included in other payables and accrued 
e Company, of HK$35,000 (2007: Nil). The amountone of the non-executive directors of the
ee and repayable on demand.due to a director is unsecured, interest fre

29. MAJOR NON CASH TRANSACTIONS

nd equipment amounting to HK$603,000 (2007: Nil)During the year, purchases of property, plant an
mounting to HK$994,000 (2007: Nil) were paid onand deposits paid for plant and equipment am

behalf by an unrelated third party in the PRC.

30. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

al risks which result from both its operating andThe Group is exposed to a variety of financia
written risk management policies and guidelines.investing activities. The Group does not have 
ally to analyse and formulate strategies to manageHowever, the board of directors meets periodica
p’s exposure to market risk is kept to a minimum.the Group’s exposure to market risk. The Group
r instruments for hedging purpose.The Group has not used any derivatives or other

ading of financial assets for speculative purposesThe Group does not actively engage in the tra
inancial risks to which the Group is exposed to arenor does it write options. The most significant fi

described below.

30.1 Foreign currency risk

hange rates is minimal as the group companiesThe Group’s exposure to currency exch
/liabilities in their own functional currencies.usually hold most of their financial assets/
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

30.2 Interest rate risk

The Group and the Company have noo borrowing. The Group’s exposure to market risk for
changes in interest rates relates primaarily to cash and cash equivalents which bears floating
interest rates. The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy. However,
the directors monitor interest rate chhange exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate change exposure should the need arise.

The directors are of the opinion that the sensitivity of the Group’s loss for the year to the
reasonably possible change in HK$ intterest rate in the next twelve months is low.

30.3 Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that the counterparty to a transaction is unwilling or
unable to fulfill its obligation with thee results that the Group thereby suffers financial loss.
The carrying amounts of trade receivables, other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents
represent the Group’s maximum expoosure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. The
carrying amounts of these financial assets presented in the consolidated balance sheet
are net of impairment losses, if anyy. The Group monitors trade receivables and other
receivables on an ongoing basis and only trades and deals with creditworthy third parties.
Accordingly, the Group’s exposure to bad debt is not significant. In addition, all the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents are deposited with major banks located in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Accordingly, the Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is primarily attributable to amounts due
from subsidiaries, other receivables aand bank balances. The Company has no significant
concentration of credit, with exposuree spread over a number of counterparties.

The credit and investment policies have been following by the Group/Company since prior
years and are considered to have beeen effective in limiting the Group’s exposure to credit
risk to a decisive level.

Further quantitative disclosures in resppect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables are set ouut in notes 20 and 16, respectively.

30.4 Fair values

The fair values of financial assets aat fair value through profit or loss, cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, other receivables, balances with related companies, trade
payables, other payables and accrueed expenses, are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because of the immmediate or short term maturity of these financial
instruments.
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

30.5 Price risk

risk arising from its investments in listed equityThe Group is exposed to equity price 
e classified as at fair value through profit or loss.securities and listed unit trusts which are
aintaining a portfolio of investments with differentThe directors manage the exposure by m
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.risk and return profiles and will consider 
y price risk. The Company is not exposed to anyThe Group is not exposed to commodity
and 2008.equity price risk as at 31 December 2007 a

hat there is a reasonably possible change of 50%At 31 December 2008, it is estimated th
rice in the next twelve months. If equity price and(2007: 5%) in stock price and unit trust pr
by 50% and all other variables were held constant,unit trust price had increased/decreased 

sses would decrease/increase by approximatelyloss for the year and accumulated los
tivity analysis has been determined assuming thatHK$210,000 (2007: HK$45,000). This sensi

balance sheet date and had been applied to thethe price change had occurred at the b
Group’s investment on that date.

30.6 Liquidity risk

net current assets of HK$15,349,000 and net assetsAs at 31 December 2008, the Group had n
s the liquidity risk is minimal.of HK$25,029,000. Management considers

by carefully monitoring expected payments forThe Group manages its liquidity needs 
tflows due in day-to-day business. Liquidity needspotential investments as well as cash-out
Long-term liquidity needs for a 360-day lookoutare monitored on a day-to-day basis. L

period are identified on a monthly basis.

meet its liquidity requirements for up to 30-dayThe Group maintains mainly cash to m
eeds will be considered when there is any potentialperiods, funding for long-term liquidity ne

investment identified.
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

30.6 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the remainning contractual maturities at the balance sheet dates
of non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payment commputed using contractual rate or, if floating, based on
rates current at the balance sheet datte) and the earliest date the Group can be required to
pay:

GROUP

  Total
  contractual
 CCarrying undiscounted On Within
 amount cash flow demand one year

HHK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2008
Trade payables 91 91 26 65
Other payables and
 accrued expenses 3,616 3,616 3,108 508

3,707 3,707 3,134 573

2007
Trade payables 102 102 29 73
Other payables and
 accrued expenses 2,282 2,282 454 1,828

 2,384 2,384 483 1,901
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

30.6 Liquidity risk (Continued)

COMPANY

 Total 
 contractual 

rying undiscounted On Within Carr
ount cash flow demand one year am

$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000HK$

2008
Amounts due to subsidiaries 2,735 12,735 12,735 –12
Other payables and
 accrued expenses 320 320 37 283

3,055 13,055 12,772 28313

2007
2,856 12,856 12,856 –Amounts due to subsidiaries 12

Other payables and
291 291 21 270 accrued expenses 

3,147 13,147 12,877 270 13

ies by category30.7 Summary of financial assets and liabilit

s and the Group’s financial assets and liabilitiesThe carrying amounts of the Company’s
be categorised as follows. See notes 3.7 and 3.19as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 may b
y of financial instruments affects their subsequentfor explanations about how the category

measurement.
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

30.7 Summary of financial assets and liabbilities by category (Continued)

(i) Financial assets – Group

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Loans and receivables:
 Other receivable 1,200 –

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 17,105 30,820

Financial assets at fair value throough profit or
 loss – held for trading 416 894

Loans and receivables:
 Trade receivables 372 512

19,093 32,226

(ii) Financial assets – Company

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14,168 24,507

Loans and receivables:
 Amounts due from subsidiariees 6,675 6,103

20,843 30,610
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

ies by category 30.7 Summary of financial assets and liabilit (Continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities – Group

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities
st:Financial liabilities at amortised cos

Trade payables 91 102
enses Other payables and accrued expe 3,616 2,282

3,707 2,384

(iv) Financial liabilities – Company

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities
st:Financial liabilities at amortised cos

Amounts due to subsidiaries 12,735 12,856
enses Other payables and accrued expe 320 291

13,055 13,147
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31. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

(a) To ensure the Group’s ability to continnue as a going concern, so that it provides returns and
benefits for its stakeholders;

(b) To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

(c) To provide capital for the purpose of sstrengthening the Group’s risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews aand manages its capital structure to ensure optimal
capital structure and shareholder returns, takking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevaiiling and projected profitability, projected operating
cash flows, projected capital expenditures aand projected strategic investment opportunities. The
Group currently does not adopt any formal dividend policy. Management regards total equity of
HK$25,029,000 (2007: HK$37,141,000) as capital, for capital management purpose.

The directors of the Company also endeavouur to ensure the steady and reliable cash flow from the
normal business operation. For both years, the Group did not raise any debts.

32. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Since 23 January 2009, the subscription rigghts attached to the listed warrants of the Company 
to subscribe for new shares have been expired. After the balance sheet date and up to the date
of warrants expiry, warrant subscription ammounting to HK$7,584,800 was received, representing
399,200,000 warrants convertible into 399,2000,000 shares of HK$0.0025 each with the subscription
price of HK$0.019 per share. All remaining 271,600,000 warrants are not exercised and such
warrants certificates have already ceased to be valid for any purpose.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

Year ended 31 December 

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

RESULTS

Loss before income tax (12,978) (41,225) (7,101) (7,360) (7,816)

As at 31 December 

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Property, plant and equipment 1,646 816 157 500 943 
Intangible assets 1,700 1,900 – – – 
Prepaid lease payments 2,092 2,025 – – – 
Deposits paid for plant and 
 equipment 3,042 1,419 – – – 
Long term other receivable 1,200 – – – –
Others assets 19,098 33,365 35,615 18,900 25,825 
Total liabilities (3,749) (2,384) (1,783) (1,536) (1,544)

Total equity 25,029 37,141 33,989 17,864 25,224 
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